
Adult Commissioning Committee 
Dear Member,

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Adult Commissioning Committee to be 
held as follows for the transaction of the business indicated.
Sian Roxborough
Proper Officer

DATE: Wednesday, 11 November 2020

TIME: 2.00 pm

VENUE: Microsoft Teams Meeting

AGENDA

1  Apologies for Absence 

2  Declarations of Interest 

3  Draft Minutes of the Meeting Held on 14th October 2020 (Pages 1 - 4)

ITEMS FOR ASSURANCE 

4  Public Health Annual Report 2019/20 and Locality Plan 2020-25 

For convenience the relevant documents can be accessed from the 
following links:  PH Annual Report 2019/20 and the Locality Plan 
2020-25 

(Pages 5 - 16)

5  Finance Report (Pages 17 - 26)

6  UEC By Appointment (Pages 27 - 40)

7  Adult Social Care Update (Pages 41 - 68)

ITEMS FOR INFORMATION 

8  Annual Business Plan Update and Financial Implications (Pages 69 - 92)

9  Adult Commissioning Report (Pages 93 - 102)

10  Any Other Business 

11  Dates of Future Meetings 

Wednesday 13 January 2021 at 14:00
Wednesday 10 February 2021 at 14:00

Public Document Pack

https://www.partnersinsalford.org/media/1468/0-0078publichealthannualreport_v2-after-leave.pdf
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/media/1467/locality-plan-2020-to-2025.pdf
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/media/1467/locality-plan-2020-to-2025.pdf


Wednesday 10 March 2021 at 14:00

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 3316
Carol Eddleston E-Mail: carol.eddleston@salford.gov.uk



MEMORANDUM OF AN INQUORATE MEETING OF ADULTS’ COMMISSIONING 
COMMITTEE

Wednesday 14 October 2020, 14:00 – 15:09

Present
Cllr Jim Cammell (JC) Executive Support Member for Social Care & 

Mental Health - SCC
Mr David Flinn (DF) Neighbourhood Lead - CCG
Cllr Gina Reynolds (GR) Lead Member for Adult Services, Health & 

Wellbeing - SCC 
Dr Jeremy Tankel (JT) Medical Director - CCG - Chair
Mr David Warhurst (DH) Chief Finance Officer - CCG

In Attendance
Ms Annette Donegani Senior Service Improvement Manager - CCG
Mr Harry Golby (HG) Assistant Director of Commissioning - CCG
Mrs Joanne Hardman (JH) Chief Finance Officer - SCC
Mrs Gillian Mclauchlan (GM) Deputy Director of Public Health - SCC
Mr Judd Skelton (JS) Assistant Director, Integrated Commissioning - 

SCC
Ms Claire Vaughan (CV) Head of Medicines Optimisation - CCG
Mr Mike McHugh (MM) Senior Democratic Services Advisor - SCC

Apologies
Mr Steve Dixon (SD) Chief Accountable Officer - CCG
Cllr Bill Hinds (BH) Lead Member for Finance & Support Services - 

SCC
Cllr Tracy Kelly (TK) Statutory Deputy City Mayor and Lead Member for 

Housing & Neighbourhoods - CCG
Dr David McKelvey (DMcK) Neighbourhood Lead - CCG
Mrs Karen Proctor (KP) Director of Commissioning - CCG
Mrs Charlotte Ramsden CR) Strategic Director People - SCC
Dr Tom Regan (TR) Clinical Director for Commissioning - CCG 
Mrs Francine Thorpe (FT) Director of Quality and Innovation - CCG 

1. Apologies for Absence
The above apologies were noted.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



2. Declarations of Interest
There were no declarations of interest in any of the items on the agenda.

3. Charlotte Ramsden, OBE
JT, on behalf of the Committee, placed on record his congratulations to Charlotte 
Ramsden who, in recognition of her work in supporting the development of services 
for children and young people across Greater Manchester since 2016, had been 
awarded an OBE (Officer of the Order of the British Empire) in the Queen’s birthday 
honours.

Members of the Committee echoed his sentiments.

4. Draft Minutes of the Meeting held on 9 September 2020
The minutes of the meeting held on 9 September 2020 were approved as a correct 
record.

5. Items for Assurance

5a) Finance Report
DW presented an in-year update in relation to the financial performance of the 
adults’ element of the Integrated Fund (IF) at month 5 2020/21.

Due to the current uncertainty in relation to the NHS financial regime, the position 
was currently not forecast forward to the end of the financial year. The NHS had now 
received information in relation to the financial regime for Months 7-12, however it 
was currently not possible to accurately ascertain what this meant at an 
organisational level.  

At month 5, the adults’ element of the Integrated Fund was currently showing an 
overspend of £0.1m.

Details were provided which highlighted the main areas of over and under 
performance within the Fund. Most of the expenditure lines within are offsetting 
benefits to the pressure within committed developments. 

Key notes relating to the financial position were described, as follows -

a) Committed developments (£3.9m) - This was primarily made up of three 
transactions which offset the slippages on most other expenditure lines:

1. Block Contracts (£2.1m) – The nationally calculated block contracts 
resulted in underspends on Adults, offset by overspends on Children’s 
services. £2.1m of funding had therefore been transferred between the two 
funds to offset this change.

2. Contingencies (£0.7m) – Due to the M1-6 finance regime the CCG had to 
include contingencies within the committed developments that related to Adult 
services. These contingencies related to pre-existing commitments that did 
not form part of the block payments to providers that would be funded by the 
Integrated Fund.

Page 2



3. Savings target (£1.0m) – The £2.0m saving required for the full financial 
year within the Fund. The year to date delivery was offset by slippages 
primarily within acute lines.

b) Customer & Client Receipts (£0.8m) – A shortfall in income had been 
estimated as a result of the unfortunate number of deaths in care homes.

Details were also provided which highlighted the key risks and updates that were 
related to the adults’ integrated fund, along with the next steps for delivering a 
balanced adult integrated fund position for 2020/21.

Discussion took place in respect of a number of issues, including -

- details of the funding transfer between the adults and children’s budgets

- details of the proposed additional Government funding for Adult Social Care

- consideration of the time at which the current COVID-19 related funding was 
due to end. 

The Adults’ Commissioning Committee noted the in-year position of the 
adults’ service within the Integrated Fund for 2020/21 and noted the risks and 
next steps.

5b) Cancer Update
AD presented the report which provided an update and assurance on cancer 
contract performance in relation to services commissioned by Salford CCG and 
Salford City Council. Specifically, it outlined current performance against relevant NH 
Constitutional Standards and the impact of Covid-19.

It was confirmed that a range of data sources, including national and local 
performance & quality indicators, together with ‘softer’ intelligence provided by CCG 
commissioners was used to:

- Summarise performance in relation to cancer services against national 
targets,

- provide details of specific exceptions relating to contract performance 
compliance, including recommendations and/or agreed mitigating actions, as 
necessary, and

- provide context in relation to the impact of performance compliance on 
specific cancer work streams / projects, including any impact on other 
programme areas.

Discussion took place in respect of a number of issues, including -

- work being undertaken by providers to address current issues relating to the 
‘Cancer Waits >104 days (CCG)’ performance.

- current cancer referral figures across Greater Manchester 

The Adults’ Commissioning Committee noted the report

Page 3



 
5c) Scheduled Care Update
AD presented the report which provided an update on work programmes relating to 
Scheduled Care (planned, elective hospital care). Specifically, it outlined current 
performance against relevant NHS Constitutional Standards, the impact of Covid-19 
and actions to accelerate the return to normal levels of non-urgent health services in 
line with NHS Phase 3 recovery requirements.

Discussion took place in respect of a number of issues, including -

- hospital capacity owing to Covid-19 related admissions and the possible 
impact this could have on current waiting lists

- the need to ensure appropriate communication with individuals who may see 
an impact on the waiting time for in-patient treatment

The Adults’ Commissioning Committee noted the report and Salford CCG’s 
performance against Scheduled Care national standards and Covid-19 
recovery plans in line with NHS Phase 3 requirements.

6. Items for Information 

6a) Adult Commissioning Report
JS presented the report which provided an overview of day services reopening, 
mental health VCSE grants, Month of Hope and Carers Support Service.

The Adults’ Commissioning Committee noted the report.

6b) Any Other Business
(i) COVID-19 Update

GM provided an update in respect of the current level of infection within Salford and 
Greater Manchester as a whole. She noted that Greater Manchester had been 
placed in Tier 2 of the Government’s current Local COVID alert levels. 

She indicated that, owing to the growth in positive tests, it was probable that Greater 
Manchester would be moved into Tier 3 within a short period of time.  

The Adults’ Commissioning Committee noted the update.

7. Dates of Future Meetings 

Wednesday 11 November 2020 at 14:00 
Wednesday 13 January 2021 at 14:00 
Wednesday 10 February 2021 at 14:00 
Wednesday 10 March 2021 at 14:00

The meeting closed at 15:09.

Page 4



Salford Locality Plan, 2020-25

Years 1 and 2: 

Living with COVID-19 and Building Back Better

P
age 5

A
genda Item

 4



P
age 6



P
age 7



Outbreaks in Salford started early in the pandemic

P
age 8



Through lockdown, restrictions, Tiers (and circuit breakers?)

P
age 9



Salford Locality Plan 2020-25 as of Sept 2020
What drives us the most regarding the next 2 years?
Our ambition to reverse trends in deprivation and better prevention through asset based delivery in neighbourhoods which will
help us deliver our core outcomes.

What has been the key learning in responding to COVID-19?
Working as one system
The Spirit of Salford protecting the most vulnerable, and strength of our VCSE sector
The benefits of integration for children as well as adults health and social care. 
Protecting frontline workers with a focus on BAME and care workers

Where will we have the most challenges?
Exacerbation of the issues that we can expect to see for:
• Crime, Domestic Abuse, Alcohol
• Mental Health impacts. 
• Cancer prevention and treatment
• Respiratory illnesses: Interactions of COVID with smoking and seasonal flu
• Primary care capacity for secondary prevention

What presents the most startling opportunities?
Marmot city tackling health inequalities that have been exposed and exacerbated by COVID-19
Huge community response for health inequalities, social disadvantage and BAME/ Black Lives Matter.
Unlocking social entrepreneurship potential within communities and bringing back businesses in Salford. 
This will be especially important for our selected priorities for coproduction around Child Poverty, Suicide Prevention, Loneliness 
and social isolation, and Climate Change.
Huge potential to protect health and tackle inequalities through health checks, long term condition and medication reviews

P
age 10



What are we planning for the next two years? 

LIVING WITH COVID-19 

Locality Plan 
priorities

BUILDING BACK 

A BETTER & FAIRER SALFORD

A Marmot City

PROTECTING HEALTH AND 
MANAGING OUTBREAKS

COVID-19 Response

P
age 11



Protecting Health and Managing Outbreaks

• Opening up safely:
• Advice and Guidance

• Workforce training and capacity

• Access to PPE

• Health checks

• Risk assessments for settings

• Risk assessments for staff

• Response to suspected case

• Test, Trace and Isolate

• Data and intelligence

• Preventing/managing outbreaks:
• Response to confirmed case

• Risk assessments for cases and 
contacts 

• Outbreaks in multiple settings

• Outbreaks in vulnerable settings

• Capacity in health and care system

• Excess deaths management

• Vaccines/ mass treatment plans

• Seasonal flu planning

P
age 12



Living with COVID-19: Locality Plan priorities

• Prevention (Locality Plan):
• Education and Safeguarding 
• Crime, Domestic Abuse, Alcohol
• Cancer prevention and treatment
• Mental Health impacts 
• Sexual health
• Respiratory illness: Interactions of 

COVID with smoking and seasonal 
flu

• Primary care capacity for 
secondary prevention

• Screening and immunisations

• Co-Production (STAT group):
• Child Poverty 
• Mental wellbeing and Suicide 

prevention
• Social Isolation
• Climate change
• Black Lives Matter
• Anchor organisations, Social value, 

utilising our assets
• Other issues raised by residents 

and staff e.g youth 
unemployment, Salford Carers.

P
age 13



Building Back A Better and Fairer Salford

• Place making • Economy, Growth and Regeneration

P
age 14



Salford: A Marmot City

P
age 15



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                          

ADULTS’ COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE (ACC) 

AGENDA ITEM NO: 5

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

11th November 2020 (Date of Meeting)

Report of: Chief Finance Officer

Date of Paper: 3rd November 2020

Subject: Finance Report

In case of query 
Please contact:

David Warhurst, Interim Chief Finance 
Officer

Strategic Priorities: Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to:

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research
 Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services)

Children’s and Maternity Services
Primary Care

 Enabling Transformation
Purpose of Paper:                                   

The purpose of this paper is to provide the Adults’ Commissioning Committee with:

 The 2020/21 financial outturn of the Integrated Fund for Adult services (Section 3) 
along with highlighting the risks to the financial position of the Adults Integrated 
Fund

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



 

                                                          

Further explanatory information required

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

Ensuring public funding is spent appropriately.  
Achieving Value for Money, ensuring that 
funding is available to protect core services.

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

Financial and performance pressures 
associated with the adults’ integrated fund 
services. Through management of committed 
developments and holding providers to account 
for performance.

WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED RISKS 
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS 
PAPER?  HOW WILL THESE BE 
MITIGATED?

N/A

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS 
ANY EXISTING HIGH RISKS FACING 
THE ORGANISATION?  IF SO WHAT 
ARE THEY AND HOW DOES THIS 
PAPER REDUCE THEM?

N/A

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE 
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

N/A

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT 
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE 
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS 
PAPER:

N/A

Footnote:

Members of Adults Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly.  Once papers are distributed no 
amendments are possible.

Page 18



                                      
Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report) Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)

X

Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, event, 
consultation)

X

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social Value and 
the impacts on the Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally?
Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality Analysis 
(EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how 
these will be managed) 

X

Legal Advice Sought
X

Presented to any informal groups or committees 
(including partnership groups) for engagement or 
other formal governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)

X

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity 
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the 
work.

P
age 19



Adults Commissioning Committee (ACC)
Finance Report – 11th November 2020

1. Executive Summary

This finance report provides the Adults’ Commissioning Committee (ACC) with an in-year 
update in relation to the financial performance of the adults’ element of the Integrated Fund 
(IF) at September 2020.

At September 2020, the adults’ element of the Integrated Fund is currently showing a 
underspend of £0.4m this is an improvement of £0.4m from the last report to this 
committee. This highlights that the Adults’ IF is in a much improved position from the start 
of the year where we were projecting to be a minimum of £1m overspent to September 
2020. 

Section 2 highlights the main areas of over and under performance within the Fund.  
These are in line with the last report to the committee with the movement being within 
mental health services as we have seen less of an increase than expected in the number of 
placements to September 2020.

It is worth noting that £1.0m of the savings target of £2.0m for the full financial year has 
partially been achieved as part of the YTD delivery by offsetting slippages primarily within 
acute lines.

Section 3 highlights the key risks and assumptions that are related to the adults’ integrated 
fund for the remainder of 2020/21 and whether the plan can be afforded for the rest of the 
year based on the latest funding allocations received.

Section 4 gives an update on the progress of ASC moving towards the real living wage as 
set out at the start of this year pre COVID-19

Section 5 highlights the risks related to 2020/21 and beyond that should be considered by 
the committee when making decisions on future investments. 

ACC is asked to note the in-year position for the adult’s Integrated Fund for 2020/21 and 
the risks identified affecting the adults’ integrated fund presently and in the future.

Page 20



2.1 Despite the COVID-19 pandemic the £0.4m underspend to Month 6 is a much improved 
position than forecasted at the start of the financial year as there was a £2m saving target 
for adults and therefore an expectation that the adults would be overspent. However £1m 
of the savings target has been mitigated as part of the NHS regime as well as the risk of 
overspends related to Adult Social Care and acute contractual activity performance.

2.2 This latest finance report provides the Adults’ Commissioning Committee (ACC) with the 
in-year position of the adults’ element of the Integrated Fund for the financial year 
(2020/21).  The appendices normally contain further detail, but it should be noted, due to 
the majority of contracts being on block for the full year these appendixes has been 
removed for this year as they provide little detail on activity as this isn’t currently being 
reported. This finance report is based on information up to the end of September 2020. 
The Service and Finance Group (SFG) have scrutinised the position and agreed to the 
key messages.

2.4 The forecast position to September 2020 shows expenditure as an under spend of £1.1m, 
however this is offset by the expected reduction in customer and client receipts by £0.8m 
in 2020/21, therefore the overall forecast position to September 2020 is a slight under 
spend of £0.3m, as shown in Table 1 below.

Table 1: 2020/21 Financial Summary

2.4.1

2. 2020/21 In-Year Monitoring

Page 21



Acute/other underspends – The CCG was mandated to the end of September 2020 by 
NHSE to maintain set budget values nationally. This is set to continue to the end of March 
2021. Consequently the nationally calculated block results in various large over and 
underspends across expenditure lines. However, these are offset by the pressure within 
committed developments.

2.4.2 Committed Developments funding transfer - £2.1m of funding has been transferred 
between Adults’ and Children’s services to September 2020. As mentioned above NHSE 
mandated that commissioners pay providers on a block contract basis until the end of 
September 2020. These block prices were calculated predicated on expenditure to Month 
9 in 2019/20, including uplift for growth. Therefore, these calculations are significantly 
different from those expected through locally commissioned contract values. As an 
example, one off 2019/20 critical care costs are in the nationally calculated contract, 
whereas these wouldn’t have been in local plans. This resulted in an overspend within 
Children’s offset by an under spend within Adults, conveyed primarily in the Acute lines in 
table 1.  As these changes were not linked to service provision, it was necessary to 
transfer an appropriate level of funding.

2.4.3 Committed Developments Contingencies - £0.4m - Due to the finance regime the CCG 
have had to include contingencies within the committed developments that relate to Adult 
services. These contingencies relate to pre-existing commitments that don’t form part of 
the block payments to providers that will be funded by the IF.

2.4.4 Customer & Client Receipts - £0.8m – A review has been undertaken and the shortfall 
in income as a result of the unfortunate number of deaths in care homes from April to 
September isn’t expected to exceed £0.8m. As national guidance has been amended on 
this area the loss seen so far isn’t expected to continue for the remainder of 2020/21. 

3. Remainder of 2020/21 (M7-12)
3.1 The below table reflects the funding changes that have been imposed on the Adults’ IF, 

these have previously been include within reports to ACC. This reflects the new annual 
combined funding available to the Adults’ IF for 2020/21.

Table 2: 2020/21 Income Adjustment

3.2 Due to the split of acute spend between children’s and adults services £2.6m has been 
transferred between the 2 funds to cover the cost transference that has occurred. NHSE 
mandated that part of the CCG’s originally notified allocation be used to cover national 
contracts and costs related to COVID-19 and this equates to £6.3m for the year that 
hasn’t been passed down to the CCG and therefore can’t be passed to the IF.

Page 22



3.3 This identifies that a £1.0m saving target still needs to be achieved during the rest of 
2020/21 in order to have a balanced position. This needs to be considered against the 
below table showing the proposed forecast of 2020/21:

Table 3: 2020/21 Financial Forecast

 Opening budget - Adults’ started 2020/21 needing to deliver a £2.0m savings target in 
order to achieve a balanced budget. However £1.0m of this target has been mitigated to 
September 2020 due to the NHS regime that was in place till the end of September 2020, 
making the position better than the original starting point.

 Investments – Committed developments includes a number of expected investments, 
Appendix 1 lists the amount of investments that are afforded within this budget and will 
support recovery.

 Level of risk – The above is predicated on 92% of the proposed spend being on block 
payments for the rest of the year, this includes ASC which there is a risk this won’t deliver 
on plan for the rest of the year.

Page 23



3.4 The savings target of £1.0m is expected to be delivered through the release of the 
remaining ASC contingency for overspends if ASC delivers on a balanced budget for the 
year. The remainder of the saving is expected to come from slippage on investments in 
appendix 1.

4. Real Living Wage
4.1 For the last five weeks the locality has been working with the adults social care sector to 

implement the move towards the real living wage. Providers have raised a number of 
concerns that require further negotiation not least the impact of COVID. The expectation 
is by mid-November negotiations will have been concluded. If at this stage any provider 
has not accepted the new rates this will escalated to locality leaders. Over 50% of the 
market has already accepted and for these providers they have implemented the real 
living wage rate with staff.

5. Next steps and risks
5.1 The CCG allocation to the integrated fund, assumes the receipt of £5.3m in relation to 

independent sector providers who were previously on national contracts. This is based on 
discussions with the national teams, but this could be a risk if this funding is received. 

5.2 While £1.0m of the saving target has been achieved to the end of September 2020 there 
is a level of risk in the remaining £1.0m being achieved. This is predominantly predicated 
on ASC delivering a balanced position allowing the remaining overspend contingency to 
be released. There is also a risk there is no slippage on the investment proposals to 
deliver the remaining savings required.

5.3 Looking to future years allocations the CCG are expecting this to be available in January 
2021 and the Council spending review should be available around the same time. 
Updates will be provided to ACC once they are available.

5.4 Up to the end of September 2020 new or enhanced care packages relating to ASC have 
been nationally funded by the NHS. From October 2020, only the first 6 weeks of any new 
placements will be funded nationally. There are a number of outstanding assessments 
that need to be completed for all new packages as these haven’t been taking place during 
COVID-19. Prioritisation of assessments will need to be undertaken in order to meet the 
requirements of the scheme. As a result of this the ASC position will be constantly 
reviewed in the contract meetings to ensure a balanced position can still be achieved.

5.5 From October 2020 there will little access to national funding in order to cover any 
COVID-19 costs. Up to September 2020 these costs have been managed outside current 
funding arrangements due to national funding, however as there is a shortfall in funding 
for COVID-19 costs going forward, this may become a cost pressure for the fund and 
there is no contingency within the plan to cover these costs as it stands.

5.6 Consideration also needs to be given to the wider impact of COVID-19 on the health 
needs of Salford residents given referrals into services have reduced and will mean that 
waiting lists will no doubt increase in the future as we overcome the pandemic.

5.7 It is worth noting that the grants the council received were rolled over for 2020/21 and at 
present it is unknown if any of these will continue beyond 2020/21 given they were set to 
end in March 2020. In particular for Adults’ there is a significant risk if any of the ASC 
grants are not renewed beyond 2020/21.

Page 24



6. Recommendations
6.1 The Adults’ Commissioning Committee (ACC) is asked to:

 Note the in-year position of the adults’ services within the Integrated Fund for 2020/21

 Note the risks and next steps for the rest of the financial year.

David Warhurst
Interim Chief Financial Officer, Salford CCG
3rd November 2020

Page 25



Appendix 1 – 2020/21 Adults’ Investments

The table shows the level of investment that is planned for the remainder of 2020/21. Some of 
these relate to the Mental Health Investment Standard (MHIS) which are required in order for the 
CCG to achieve its investment standard for 2020/21.

Page 26



Adult Commissioning Committee

Part 1

Agenda item number: 6

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information 

11 November 2020

Report of: Urgent Emergency Care (UEC) by Appointment

Date of paper: 30 October 2020

Subject: Development of an Urgent Emergency Care by Appointment system 
in Salford 

In case of query please contact: Stephen Tilley – Tel No 07789 741978 
(Stephen.tilley@nhs.net)   

Strategic priorities (please mark with an X which priorities the paper 
relates to)

Priority Selection

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research: X

Integrated Community Care Services (Adult 
Services):

X

Children’s and Maternity Services: X

Primary Care: X

Enabling Transformation: X

Page 27

Agenda Item 6



Purpose of paper: 

Further explanatory information required

Question Answer

How will this benefit the health 
and wellbeing of Salford 
residents or the Clinical 
Commissioning Group?

Salford Patients will be able to access more 
appropriate services to support their clinical 
condition  

What risks may arise as a result 
of this paper? How can they be 
mitigated?

N/A

What equality-related risks may 
arise as a result of this paper?  
How will these be mitigated?

Equality Impact Assessment completed and 
circulated to appropriate boards for 
comment 

Does this paper help address any 
existing high risks facing the 
organisation? If so what are they 
and how does this paper reduce 
them?

Reducing overcrowding in Salford’s 
Emergency Department and protecting staff 
and patients exposure to COVID-19

Please describe any possible 
conflicts of interest associated 
with this paper.

N/A

Please identify any current 
services or roles that may be 
affected by issues within this 
paper.

N/A

Footnote:

Members of Adults Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly. Once 
papers are distributed no amendments are possible.

Page 28



  

Document development

Process Yes No Not 
applicable

Comments and date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, 
actual report)

Outcome

Public engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, 
event, consultation)

X

Clinical engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, 
event, consultation)

X

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social 
Value and the impacts on the residents of 
Salford socially, economically and 
environmentally (including climate 
change)?

X

P
age 29



  

Process Yes No Not 
applicable

Comments and date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, 
actual report)

Outcome

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality 
Analysis (EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks 
and how these will be managed) 

X

Legal advice sought
X

Presented to any informal groups or 
committees (including partnership groups) 
for engagement or other formal 
governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)

X

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work 
and ensure there is clarity in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether 
amendments were requested about a particular part of the work

P
age 30



  

Urgent Emergency Care (UEC) by Appointment 

1. Executive summary

1.1 Improving the way urgent care, advice and treatment is delivered featured in the 
annual plan and priorities Adult Commissioning Committee approved in July 2020.   
At its September meeting the committee received a brief update on local Urgent & 
Emergency Care Redesign and noted a fully update would be provided in November. 

1.2 This document describes the development of a Salford Urgent Emergency Care by 
Appointment programme. It describes the two models that are being developed to 
support this programme:

 Implementing Pre-ED Registration Steaming 
 Call before you attend 

2.  Background

2.1 In January 2020, prior to the current COVID-19 crisis, the Greater Manchester (GM) 
Improvement and Transformation Board approved a high level urgent care by 
appointment model as a refreshed priority for Urgent Emergency Care (UEC). The 
primary ambition for this model is reduce attendances to Emergency Departments 
(ED) by improving access to and utilisation of, primary and community based 
services. This is to be achieved by rapidly developing and testing a GM UEC by 
Appointment model. The final stages of the programme planning were suspended by 
the COVID-19 response during March.

2.2 A discussion paper on the re-design of UEC was developed and discussed at the 
GM Hospital Gold Command Cell. It identified that, in order to prevent a re-start 
ethos and to engender a re-design approach, some core principles were required. 
These echoed the sentiments shared by the Royal College of Emergency Medicine 
who, in their position statement of 6th May 2020 asked for 5 fundamental aims to be 
supported: 

1. EDs must not become reservoirs of nosocomial infection for patients 
2. EDs must not become overcrowded ever again 
3. Hospitals must not become overcrowded again 
4. Emergency care must be designed to look after vulnerable patients 

safely 
5. EDs must be safe workplaces for staff

Page 31



  

2.3 These were further expanded with some suggested core principles proposed for the 
re-design of unplanned care: 

 A Home First principle is adopted 
 Social distancing and robust Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) standards 

are applied where hospital attendance is required 
 Care is based upon a prioritisation of clinical need. If there isn’t a clinical 

need for an ED attendance, for example where the enhanced support of 
Resuscitation or Majors care in ED is required, then entry into ED is not 
supported. 

 Patients hospital care, where needed, is directed to the appropriate location 
at the outset, minimising multiple staff contacts 

 Optimal patient flow is maintained at all times in all wards and departments – 
a no waiting ethos 

 Resource is placed where the re-designed need is identified 
 Staff exposure and therefore risk is reduced to the lowest possible levels

2.4 To support these principals and aims it was agreed in GM that in order to support 
these principals, localities should move towards a booked appointment system for all 
EDs and where appropriate, move unplanned care into planned care support. GM 
asked localities to focus on three principals:  

 Providers should take practical and pragmatic steps to reduce the risks of 
overcrowding in ED departments 

 Patients would be triaged on arrival in A&E and be redirected to alternative 
local provision including primary/community/mental health and other care 
providers.

 Patients will call an offsite service, be triaged and directed to attend ED if 
appropriate. No walk in patients would be seen unless their condition was life 
or limb threatening 

3. UEC by Appointment 

3.2 To meet these challenges NHS England/Improvement (NHSEI) has mandated a UEC 
by Appointment programme across the country. In parallel to the GM discussions 
NHSE/I has mandated:

 Call first for advice, triage or assessment 
 Answer and assess/triage in a timely manner 
 Local as early as possible – where clinically appropriate, connect patients with 

local clinicians or services quickly by eliminating non-value adding steps or 
delays 

 Book patients in to appointments wherever possible – to site/service or to 
respond to place of residence 

Page 32



  

 A consistent 24/7 service offer 

3.2 Though the programme is not envisaged to go nationally live until December 1st 2020, 
Salford has developed an UEC programme designed to reduce the risk of 
overcrowding within the ED in Salford by reducing the numbers of self-presenter 
attendances. This is being achieved in 2 phases:

 Implementing Pre-ED Registration Streaming
 Call before you attend

3.3 Both these services are supported by Salford’s own Local Clinical Assessment 
Service (LCAS) which has been established with the support of Salford Primary Care 
Together (SPCT) and builds on an already established and operational Clinical Hub 
that they operate for a variety of services across Salford. The LCAS is staffed by GP’s 
and Senior Nurses. 

3.4 The following sections describe the pathways in place in Salford for this programme 
and Appendix 2 shows these in a diagram.

 
4. Pre-ED Registration Streaming 
4.1 Since the 24th August 2020 Salford has been operating a Pre-ED Registration Service 

from 8am to 8pm, 7 days a week. Initially the service was only for adult patients at 
launch but paediatric pathways have been tested since 18th October 2020. This service 
has yielded on average 40+ patients a day being streamed away from the ED and to 
more appropriate services. This represents 20 to 30% of all adult patients self-
presenting at the ED. This service went live following two successful tests of change 
(ToC) projects carried out in August 2020. These involved having two Advance Nurse 
Practitioners (one from Acute and one from Primary Care) at the front door assessing 
all ambulatory self-presenters and directing them into the ED or booking them in to an 
alternative, more appropriate clinical service. This service was supported by the 
development of a LCAS based in Salford. The ToCs resulted in 20+% of self-
presenters being directed to more appropriate alternative services and follow up  calls 
saw high levels of service user satisfaction.

4.2 Following the ToC’s and the subsequent go live date, all ambulatory patients attending 
the ED are met by the two nurse streamers who act as care navigators. They either 
pass patients to ED or book suitable patients in to the LCAS. All patients being booked 
in to the LCAS hub will have had their observations checked. Patients who may be 
suitable for primary care / community based services have their observations checked 
within 10 minutes of arrival. This includes a quick red flag review to ensure that the 
observations are within acceptable ranges and exclusion criteria are met. This is based 
on existing pathways currently used within primary care streaming, co-developed with 
ED and Paediatric Assessment Decision Area (PANDA) colleagues. All suitable 

Page 33



  

patients are booked in to the Salford LCAS and registered on the ADASTRA system. 
All patients should receive a call back within 30 minutes. Patients can wait for the call 
back in their cars (when it is safe for them to do so) and do not need to wait in the main 
waiting room. 

4.3 For patients where an immediate call back is required, for example for those waiting in 
ED, or patients who do not have a contact number and need to use the onsite 
telephone, they are connected to the LCAS directly. The LCAS, where possible will 
aim to address the needs of the patient during the assessments. This may include sign 
posting to more appropriate services, self-management or other community based 
services including pharmacies. Where clinically appropriate, patients can be booked 
back in to their own GP, extended access clinics, onsite GP or be referred to 
community nursing as indicated. 

4.4 Salford has an onsite GP based on the Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust (SRFT) 
site but this service is only used for patients in whom it is likely that a secondary care 
review may be needed. This may include patients who need fast track referral to a 
speciality. Patients where it would not be appropriate to deflect to services off site can 
also be booked in to see the onsite GP, but this is used as a last resort. 

4.5 The GP on site will see patients who are either:
 Out of area and therefore cannot be booked back in to practice.
 Are likely to need secondary care review (i.e. direct to speciality) established.
 Patients where it is felt an onsite review is indicated for clinical reasons (borderline 

cases or those of a more acute nature). 

4.6 The GP on site, when not seeing patients, also supports the activity of the LCAS.
Patients are also being booked into Extended Access, Out of Hours, Musculoskeletal 
services Specialities within the hospital and Community Services. An Appointment 
book system is operating for primary care streaming patients. Wherever possible 
before patients are given an appointment to be seen by the primary care streaming GP 
on site, deflection off site to their own GP, extended access and GP OOH 
appointments will be attempted. For those patients who are unable to be deflected off 
site, an appointment time will be given. If the wait to be seen is longer than 30 minutes 
then patients will be advised to wait in their cars and return at the appointment time if it 
is safe to do.

4.7 Since going live, Salford has continued to improve existing pathways and develop new 
clinical pathways to support this service; for example, musculoskeletal services and 
diverting patients straight to speciality. Though this service was originally only 
available for adult patients SRFT are looking to develop a paediatric pathway and 
initial testing of this pathway started on the 19th October 2020. In addition, the service 
is implementing a mental health pathway that supports the agreed GM protocols. The 
Salford system also intends to introduce a Deep Vein Thrombosis (DVT) pathway 
which is expected to go live in November 2020. Salford Care Organisation (SCO) will 

Page 34



  

continue to develop the full range of appropriate community services to support 
streaming. Salford has the most developed system operating across GM and at the 
time of writing this update it is the only fully operative service. (See Appendix 2 for GM 
UEC by Appointment patient Journey). 

5. Call Before You Attend – Update

5.1 The second part of the UEC by Appointment programme is the implementation of a 
Call Before You Attend model, where patients are encouraged to ring NHS 111 before 
they attend the ED.  This expansion of the NHS 111 service provision is being badged 
‘NHS 111 First’ and additional capacity for the national NHS 111 teams has been 
identified and is being established in order to meet key performance indicators of this 
service. Along with Bolton, Salford is an early adopter having gone live with this 
service on 22nd October 2020. Using an agreed list of dispositions (See Appendix 1 
List of dispositions and expected call numbers), calls to NHS 111 will trigger the 
redirection of information to Salford’s LCAS which will ring the patient back in an 
allotted time. The patient will be advised of this time frame. The LCAS will aim to 
support self-management where possible, offer advice and guidance, convert care into 
planned from unplanned if it is safe to do so and direct patients, when required, into 
the most appropriate services, ideally on a booked basis.

5.2 Salford’s LCAS is operating 24/7and is being provided by SPCT supported by an 
expanded, existing clinical hub. Phone calls to NHS 111 from Salford patients who 
match the disposition list, will result in the Salford LCAS being sent a message from 
NHS 111 to contact the patient within an agreed timeframe and in doing so support the 
patient appropriately. 

5.3 Some localities are considering using a GM Clinical Assessment Service but Salford 
has adopted a Salford LCAS. This means care is delivered to our local population 
using local clinicians who are very familiar with the community based alternatives 
within Salford. Primary and secondary care colleagues have a high degree of clinical 
confidence in the service. A small LCAS may not be sufficient resilient to deliver a 
consistent, quality service but the approach adopted has been to integrate the LCAS 
into other local urgent care services, rather than create a separate service. This 
increases service resilience and brings financial benefits.  

5.4 The modelling assumes a shift of 25% of current ED self-presenters calling NHS 111 
First, which will result in a 48% increase in NHS 111 activity and outcomes. The aim is 
to decrease the number of patients advised to directly attend the ED and increase the 
number of calls going to the LCAS for clinical assessment first. 

Page 35



  

5.5 All dispositions requiring a response within two hours would be passed to the LCAS for 
assessment and face to face review if required. Calls requiring a six hour response 
may still be passed to the patient’s own GP.

5.6 The LCAS service will need some additional clinical cover within the clinical hub to 
meet the anticipated increased call volumes (modelling indicates circa 46 calls per 
day). However there is resilience within the clinical hub to flex the teams to meet 
increased demand.

5.7 The clinical hub that supports the LCAS currently already offers assessments for:

 COVID Assessment Service for primary and secondary care 
 NHS 111 calls (existing calls and GP OOH activity)
 Urgent and Emergency Care by Appointment front door demand 

management

5.8 The LCAS meets all of the requirements set out by the Greater Manchester Health and 
Social Care Partnership (GMHSCP). 

6. Operational and Governance Groups Supporting This Programme 

6.1 To ensure there is appropriate oversight of the project, an Urgent Care Redesign 
Strategy Group meets weekly to monitor programme objectives and mitigate any 
potential challenges to implementation. This group continues to be supported by senior 
directors from across the Salford locality (including the Third Sector).

6.2 To direct and support any operational implementation of this programme, an UEC by 
Appointment Operational Group meets fortnightly to resolve any immediate issues. 
This is supported by senior managers/directors from across the locality including 
patient representatives and Third Sector bodies.

6.3 Clinical governance is being supported as part of the already established Extended 
Primary Integrated Care (EPIC) Governance Group which has senior clinical 
representation from across the system and meets monthly.

 
6.4 A memorandum of understanding (MoU) has been developed between the Salford 

Care Organisation (SCO) and SPCT which includes clear Key Performance Indicators 
(KPI) for all parties involved. This MoU also includes Mental Health obligations.

 
6.5 An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed and has been discussed at 

appropriate organisational boards across the Salford locality and signed off. This can 
be viewed on request.

Page 36



  

7. Finance
 
7.1 An UEC by Appointment Finance Group with representation from the finance teams of 

the SCO, Salford Clinical Commissioning Group (SCCG) and SPCT has been meeting 
to discuss immediate and future recurrent funding for this programme. In what is a 
challenging financial climate for 20/21, it is expected that the project will be able to be 
funded until the end of March 2021. Discussions continue over future incremental 
costs to the system and if/how services will be funded beyond that date on a recurrent 
basis. It is anticipated that the new UEC model will require recurrent investment in 
Primary Care services, so a business case will be presented to the Primary Care 
Commissioning Committee for decision before the end of the financial year, Adults 
Commissioning Committee will be kept up to date on the financial implications.

8. Data

8.1 A data group meets monthly with support from senior BI representatives across 
SCCG, SCO and SPCT. This group is concentrating on developing automated 
recording and reporting platforms so that outputs can be quickly assessed and 
decisions can be made based on appropriate data. This group is also reviewing ways 
in which patients’ can be followed up to provide feedback on the service and ensure 
they do not attend multiple locations. 

9. Communication 

9.1 NHSE are intending to provide a national launch programme from 1st December 2020 
for the UEC by Appointment model. Salford CCG and SRFT communication teams are 
in discussion with both GMHSCP and NHSE to ensure that any activity in Salford 
reflects the national and regional plans. GMHSCP has advised that at this point in time 
the model should be accompanied by a soft launch. This is being delivered by staff 
supporting the service who will explain the positive changes to the patient journey 
when patients interact with the model. 

10. Risks in introducing this model 

10.1 Staffing – Much of the staffing is short term contracts. This has the potential to 
increase costs and run the risk of highly skilled clinical staff leaving the programme to 
obtain more permanent roles. SPCT and Salford CCG continue to discuss this issue at 
their regular contract meetings.

Page 37



  

10.2 Finance – Future funding beyond March 2021 has still not been agreed and this poses 
a potential threat to the continuation of the programme. 

10.3 If IT interoperability across the various organisations involved in the programme 
cannot be achieved then patient information cannot be shared and recorded 
appropriately. In addition, future integration with other localities hinges on the 
interoperability of IT systems.

  

 11. Benefits of the introduction of a UEC by appointment model

 A reduction in ED self-presenter 
 Support primary care capacity
 Manages current risks and limitations of GP Connect 
 Improved safety through early access  to senior clinical advice 
 Improved ability to measure outcomes and demonstrate achievements of 

programmes aims
 Improved patient experience of accessing urgent care services
 Delivers a mandated requirement from NHSE

12. Recommendations

12.1 The Adult Commissioning Committee is asked:

 to review the document for information and comment
 to support the continued development of the UEC by Appointment programme
 to note a business case is being prepared and will be presented to a future 

meeting of Adult Commissioning Committee
 to note a business case is being prepared and will be presented to a future 

meeting of Primary Care Commissioning Committee

Stephen Tilley 

Senior Service Improvement Manager – Urgent Emergency Care (Salford Clinical 
Commissioning Group) 

Page 38



  

Appendix 1 – List of dispositions and expected call numbers  

Page 39



  

Appendix 2 – GM UEC by Appointment patient journey 

P
age 40



Adult Commissioning Committee

Part 1

Agenda item number: 7

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information 

11 October 2020
Report of: Strategic Director of People

Date of paper: 11 October 2020

Subject: Adult Social Care

In case of query please contact: 

Strategic priorities (please mark with an X which priorities the paper 
relates to)

Priority Selection

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research: 

Integrated Community Care Services (Adult 
Services):

X

Children’s and Maternity Services: 

Primary Care: 

Enabling Transformation: 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



Purpose of paper: 

Further explanatory information required

Question Answer

How will this benefit the health 
and wellbeing of Salford 
residents or the Clinical 
Commissioning Group?

Provision of services to meet the needs of 
vulnerable adults

What risks may arise as a result 
of this paper? How can they be 
mitigated?

Not applicable – for assurance/information

What equality-related risks may 
arise as a result of this paper?  
How will these be mitigated?

Not applicable – for assurance/information

Does this paper help address any 
existing high risks facing the 
organisation? If so what are they 
and how does this paper reduce 
them?

No

Please describe any possible 
conflicts of interest associated 
with this paper.

None

Please identify any current 
services or roles that may be 
affected by issues within this 
paper.

None

Footnote:

Members of Adults Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly. Once papers 
are distributed no amendments are possible.

Page 42



  

Document development

Process Yes No Not 
applicable

Comments and date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, 
actual report)

Outcome

Public engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, 
event, consultation)

X

Clinical engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, 
event, consultation)

X

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social 
Value and the impacts on the residents of 
Salford socially, economically and 
environmentally (including climate 
change)?

X

P
age 43



  

Process Yes No Not 
applicable

Comments and date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, 
actual report)

Outcome

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality 
Analysis (EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks 
and how these will be managed) 

X

Legal advice sought
X

Presented to any informal groups or 
committees (including partnership groups) 
for engagement or other formal 
governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)

X

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work 

P
age 44



  

and ensure there is clarity in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether 
amendments were requested about a particular part of the work

P
age 45



  

Adult Social Care Strategic Update

1. Executive summary
1.1 This report provides a summary of a number of key aspects of Adult Social Care in 
Salford. It reflects our experiences through Covid and the plans that we have in place for the 
Winter period.

1.2 The report covers a number of key strategy objectives as we maintain our strong focus 
on our pre-Covid priorities as we begin to re-engage with these key themes.

1.3 The report covers the following area:
a) Winter Planning for Adult Social Care within our integrated system – this includes the 
approach we have taken to meet the national requirements for Winter planning
b) Adult Social Care Performance – a summary of the most recent ASC performance report.
c) Adult Safeguarding – an update on key developments
d) Community Led Support – update on the transformation programme for Adult Social Care 
practice
e) Market Management overview – an update on the current status of the market and a 
number of key current work areas as we move into the Winter period
f) Adult Social Care Market Strategy – a summary from the working draft document.

2. Adult Social Care – Winter Planning 2020/21
2.1 In its winter plan for Adult Social Care (ASC), the Department of Health and Social Care 
(DHSC) has set out the actions that are required of local health and social care organisations: 
the local authority, care providers and local NHS provider and commissioner organisations.
 
2.2 There are four themes to the plan. 

 preventing and controlling the spread of infection in care settings
 collaboration across health and care services
 supporting people who receive social care, the workforce, and carers
 supporting the system

Page 46



  

2.3 The winter plan sits alongside and is complementary to the NHS letter on the third phase 
of the COVID-19 response. As a health and social care system, we have already done a huge 
amount of work to support Salford people and to support the health and social care system 
through COVID-19. We continue to work collaboratively, including with our local VCSE 
partners and care providers, to plan for winter and the second COVID-19 wave.
2.4 There is a requirement to write to the DHSC by the 31 October, to confirm that our winter 
plan is in place. We have submitted this summary by the stated deadline.
2.5 Our winter plan is a composite of existing activity and plans. We have engaged a wide 
range of staff from different partner agencies to provide the assurance and evidence that we 
have plans in place. Often this has been evidence of the actions already taken. We have also 
engaged with partners at the Adult Social Care Market Strategy Group, to sense-check that 
our assurance ratings are right.
2.6 Where we need greater assurance on specific plans, we have identified lead people to 
further develop these and we will work on timescales and assurance routes so that 
contributors have a clear understanding of what they need to do, by when. 

The plan summary

Preventing and controlling the spread of infection in care settings

2.7 We are assured that we have well-developed plans in place for managing infection in care 
settings. We have a detailed and robust system for distributing and monitoring the Infection 
Control Fund (ICF) and will apply this for the second phase of funding. We have written to all 
ASC providers, including those that are not regulated under CQC to advise them of the 
conditions of the grant and their obligations as providers. 
2.8 We have worked with colleagues to develop a Greater Manchester risk assessment for 
care home visiting and we are confident that the majority of care providers are providing 
required data to the Capacity Tracker and local Sitreps. Advice and training on the use of 
PPE in care settings have been made available and Salford has a Care Homes GP practice 
which has continued to provide support and is leading on Enhanced Health in Care Homes. 

Collaboration across health and care services

2.9 Salford has a proud tradition of integrated working and collaboration and this has been a 
great strength during COVID-19.  Our Homefirst programme will be fully implemented in 
November, including the procurement of D2A beds, moving therapy and social care staff from 

Page 47



  

the hospital into the community, the development of trusted assessors and a single point of 
access for discharge. We are working closely with our primary care colleagues through 
Salford Primary Care Together, the CCG and Primary Care Networks.
2.10 A trajectory to complete the backlog of CHC assessments has been agreed and 
fortnightly reports on progress are being reviewed. The CHC team is working in partnership 
with ASC and community colleagues to ensure that assessments are undertaken in a timely 
way. 
2.11 The Spirit of Salford is a partnership led by the VCSE sector and including the CCG, 
local authority and SCO. It continues to support vulnerable people and plans are being 
developed to reinstate welfare calls. Our multi-agency Seasonal Influenza Group is 
implementing its plan for 2020/2021.
2.12 Care providers were actively involved in the development of Salford’s market position 
statement and in the initial Community Led Support meetings and complex dementia 
workshops. They meet regularly with members of the Procurement and Market Management 
Team and can feed concerns into the system this way. 

Supporting people who receive social care, the workforce, and carers

2.13 At the start of COVID-19, we carried out telephone reviews of all people receiving social 
care to identify changing needs and risks and to agree alternative support if needed. This 
was cross-referenced with risk assessments carried out by care providers and Salford City 
Council’s list of shielded people, allowing us to RAG rate individuals’ situations. Plans are in 
place to allow a rapid review of people's needs should this be required. People receiving care 
and support have worked with our social workers and with the care providers, to make 
practical and safe adjustments to their care, so that their needs continue to be met, though 
this might be in more flexible ways.
2.14 We have a policy and process in place to monitor any risks to the delivery of our statutory 
duties and responsibilities under the Care Act. This includes an escalation process which 
would flag early warnings to indicate any requirements to apply Care Act easements. This 
has been agreed with the Statutory Director of Adult Social Services and is built into our ASC 
governance structure. The ethical framework is built into all local COVID-19 guidance and the 
Care Act easements policy. 
2.15 The social work ethical framework is embedded in our Home First model and we are 
planning how to use strength-based approaches as enablers of discharge to assess. Pathway 
task and finish groups include representation from the hospital, ASC, community health 
services and procurement. 

Page 48



  

2.16 In early November, we will relocate the social work and therapy assessment functions 
out of the hospital and into the community, creating a single point of access as part of the 
Home First model. Our residents will be assessed where they live, or in community settings. 
This will enable us to provide a more strengths-based approach and support people more 
effectively at home. Regular multi-disciplinary meetings have been set up to review ‘stranded’ 
and ‘super stranded’ patients and we will continue to have community in-reach into the 
hospital, to support these patients moving home or to an appropriate community setting. 
2.17 Adult Social Care’s quality assurance and workforce team is developing new resources 
to support our social workers. Plans include setting up virtual staff forums, establishing 
working groups to maintain social work standards and sharing regular good practice case 
studies. Social care is represented throughout Salford Care Organisation and in our multi-
agency advisory board. We are engaged with GM PSW trusted assessor development 
workshops. We have made direct payments more flexible and provided additional financial 
support to people employing their own PAs, to ensure continuity of care and support.
2.18 We continue to work with our VCSE sector colleagues to provide welfare calls and 
support to vulnerable people. We continue to support the wider social care workforce - we 
established a local financial support offer for our ASC market to secure operational stability 
for the market, to ensure IPC measures were put in place and to ensure the wages of the 
people working in the sector were protected. This approach predated the initial allocation of 
national IPC monies and Salford was able to align the local and national approach into a 
coherent local Salford Offer with our local logistical response - we described this approach in 
our letter to the Care Minister in May 2020. The model will continue to be applied with the 
second round of IPC monies. We have written to all adult social care providers setting out the 
terms of the second round of IPC monies and will we continue to work with providers to ensure 
that they apply these terms including the specific requirement that staff receive their normal 
wages while self-isolation in line with government guidance.
2.19 Staff in our statutory services and in our provider services have been made aware of 
local, regional and national wellbeing services, through regular and frequent communications 
and providers have carried out staff risk assessments, with a focus on the risks to BAME 
staff. 

Supporting the System

2.20 We continue to provide support to providers and the wider system through Public Health, 
Care Homes GP Practice, regular provider forums, the development of a GP hot hub and the 
expansion of step-up and step-down services. We are developing COVID virtual wards in the 
community. We are reinstating the care homes quality improvement network and planning a 
home care quality improvement network. 

Page 49



  

2.21 ICF has been and will be distributed to providers and learning from the first wave has 
been collated and fed into regular support to care homes, from Public Health and Adult Social 
Care. Providers have been kept informed of the latest local and national guidance through 
regular communications and have been supported to implement these. With ongoing sitreps, 
we have a good overview of the market position and our concerns over staffing are generally 
low to medium. We are asking providers to update their business continuity plans and to 
confirm with us when they have done so. Providers have made use of national and regional 
recruitment support. 
2.22 The council will continue to work in strong partnership with our ASC providers, under 
our Market Shaping Strategy and Market Management actions and functions, to apply strong 
engagement and communications. We have applied and will continue to apply our strong 
principles of codesign and coproduction. We have established approaches with our providers 
to help us to collectively understand the stability/resilience of our market overall. We have 
also established targeted approaches to work more closely with those providers who have 
been more impacted by the consequences of Covid. We have maintained close engagement 
with these providers, exploring the detailed operational and financial matters that require 
closer scrutiny, oversight and support.
2.23 Salford has developed robust and proven financial administrative processes to support 
the first round of the IPC grant. We will continue to apply these processes for the second 
round of funding. We are confident and assured of the same for providers. Providers have 
continued to maintain strong financial administration and oversight.
2.24 Areas which require further assurance:

 We have written twice to people using direct payments about access to PPE for 
Personal Assistants that they employ. We have also worked with Penderels Trust to 
help with communications. Nevertheless, the number of PAs asking for PPE from 
Public Health remains low and we are planning further communication. 

 All patients should receive an information leaflet prior to elective admission about self-
isolation. We need to check that care providers are supporting their residents to 
comply with the leaflet. 

 We are working with providers to explore designated premises – alternative 
accommodation where care homes cannot isolate safely. Initial meetings have taken 
place and plans are being drawn up to procure this.

 Most providers are completing weekly sitreps and regularly updating the capacity 
tracker. We will request further evidence from providers that they have reviewed their 
business continuity plans since summer and refocus our efforts on those providers 
who need further encouragement to improve their reporting.

 Most providers are completing weekly sitreps and regularly updating the capacity 
tracker. We will request further evidence from providers that they have reviewed their 
business continuity plans since summer and refocus our efforts on those providers 
who need further encouragement to improve their reporting.

Page 50



  

 Further work is required to improve the offer to carers and to communicate it more 
effectively. An implementation plan which addresses the actions required in the Winter 
Plan and in the Government Task Force is due to be approved in October. 

 The carers personal budget policy is being revised and may require rapid deployment.  

Challenges

2.25 The identification of an appropriate designated setting has been challenging because of 
the difficulty in accessing appropriate indemnity insurance for adult social care providers. This 
issue has been escalated through regional and sub-regional ADASS.
2.26 All our adult social care providers have business continuity plans in place in addition to 
mutual aid from statutory partners to ensure workforce resilience. However, staffing levels 
will continue to be closely monitored due to the increased risk of community transmission and 
the number of adult social care staff potentially having to self-isolate. 

3. Adult Social Care – Performance

3.1 During 2019/20 a review was carried out of the performance framework for ASC. This 
review set out to establish a more streamlined and targeted approach to assessing the system 
performance of ASC delivered by SCO.
3.2 The review outcome resulted in the removal of a number of repeat/overlapping measures 
and the removal of some measure that were felt to be less focussed on providing a strong 
strategic position of ASC performance. This new ASC performance framework was approved 
at the ASC Commissioning Strategy Group in Q1 2020/21 and is set out below.
3.3 Though the first period of 2020/21 ASC has demonstrated a significant level of operational 
resilience during the Covid crisis. There are three KPIs that have shown under performance 
through the first six months on the year. One of these relating to Direct Payments did show 
good performance during the first two reporting months, then performance fell away largely 
due to the impact of Covid. There are strong recovery plans for this service pathway 
associated with the measure and there is a high degree of confidence that the position will 
recover through Q3 and Q4.
3.4 Two KPIs relating to Reablement have seen significant performance impact caused by 
the Covid crisis. The reablement service is part of the domiciliary care (home care) contract 
with independent sector providers. It has been necessary to divert some of this resource to 
support the hospital to home discharge pathways to ensure that critical system pathways 
have remained stable and resilient. Operational teams have had to target reablement wok to 
those most at need whilst retaining the standards domiciliary support offer to other people. It 

Page 51



  

is likely this this targeted support approach will need to be sustained under the current Covid 
pressure as we move into and through the Winter period.

Social Care Outcomes Framework (ASCOF) national measures

Ind. Ref Indicator Description
Proposed 

20/21 
target

Latest GM 
Benchmarks 

April May June July Aug Sept

Proportion of people us ing socia l  care who receive sel f-
di rected support ei ther through a  di rect payment, a  
personal  budget or other means , for cl ient 

75 83.26 83.1 82.5 81.6 81.4 72.4

Proportion of people us ing socia l  care who receive sel f-
di rected support through a  di rect payment, for cl ient 13 13.3 13 12.7 12.3 12.2 10.2

1E
Proportion of adul ts  with a  learning disabi l i ty in pa id 
employment 4.6 4.9 4.9 4.9 4.9 4.9 4.9

1F
Proportion of adul ts  in contact with secondary menta l  
hea l th services  in pa id employment (reported 3 months in 
arrears)

8.2 8.3 8.1

1G
Proportion of adul ts  with a  learning disabi l i ty who l ive 
in thei r own home or with thei r fami ly 93 93.2 93.4 93.2 93.2 93.0 93.0

1H
Proportion of adul ts  in contact with secondary menta l  
hea l th services  l iving independently, wi th or without 
support (reported 3 months in arrears)

84 85 84.9

2A(1)
Permanent admiss ions  to Res identia l  and nurs ing care 
homes, per 100,000 population (aged 18-64) 17 1.82 2.43 2.43 4.86 5.5 6.1

2A(2)
Permanent admiss ions  to res identia l  and nurs ing care 
homes, per 100,000 population (aged 65+)  * cumulative 836.5 76.8 133.4 168.8 212.4 294 384.4

2B(1)
Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were s ti l l  
a t home 91 days  after discharge from hospi ta l  into 
reablement/rehabi l i tation 

80 87.6 87.5 86.2 82.8 80.5 81.0

The proportion of older people aged 65 and over offered 
reablement services  fol lowing discharge from hospi ta l . 17.1 11.8 12.7 14.4 13.8 10.2 8.9

2C(1)
Delayed transfers  of care from hospi ta l  - reported 1 month 
in arrears

2C(2)
Delayed transfers  of care from hospi ta l , and those which 
are attributable to adult socia l  care - reported 1 month in 
arrears
The outcomes  of short-term services : sequel  to service - 
% of service users  who do not need a  long term service 
fol lowing IHSS

55 33 34 31 30 26 44

This  number can fluctuate due to increase in population being assessed as  el igible for ASC

His torica l ly lower use of PB in Sa l ford. DP update i s  a  s trategic priori ty. New pol icy being developed. Changes  to assessment pathway. Improvement 
work with the DP brokerage service. 

Improved pos i tion in September. Likely Covid impact - increase in acui ty/levels  of need experienced for people. Community Led Support and Discharge to 
assess  (DTA) models  in Sa l ford should support increase performance in the medium term.

Covid impact on service pathway as  hospi ta l  to home pathway has  been priori ties  with Homecare providers . Likely to remain a  performance chal lenge 
through the winter period. Additional  operational  overs ight i s  in place to ensure the pathway i s  ava i lable and accessed. Longer-term planning l inked to 
transformation wi l l  improve performance - a l though the impact of this  wi l l  be l ikely seen after the Winter period.

2B(2)

2D

1C(2A)

1C(1A)

Data not available yet-published 
3 months in arrears

Data not available yet-published 
3 months in arrears

Reporting suspended nationally due to Covid-19

Page 52



  

Adult Social Care – Local Key Performance Indicators

Ind.Ref. Threshold
Proposed 
2020/21 

Threshold
April May June July Aug Sept

Yes - Outcomes Expressed 83 83 51 63 71 53 52 46

Yes - Outcomes Not Expressed part of above 
measure 

Part of above 
measure 5 4 3 3 2 1

Not Asked TBC (new) TBC (new) 10 12 10 4 7 4

Don’t Know TBC (new) TBC (new) 1 2 1

Fully Achieved 60 65 30 41 45 38 37 30
Partially Achieved TBC (new) TBC (new) 14 12 17 8 15 9

Don’t Know TBC (new) TBC (new) 21 23 16 10 6 2
Not Achieved TBC (new) TBC (new) 2 3 5 5 3 3

Adult Deceased TBC (new) TBC (new) 0 0 1 1 2

Safe TBC (new) TBC (new) 26 28 36 23 26 22
Not Known TBC (new) TBC (new) 16 25 26 15 17 11

No Difference TBC (new) TBC (new) 20 20 14 19 9 26
Fairly Safe TBC (new) TBC (new) 4 6 7 3 8 14

Unsafe TBC (new) TBC (new) 1 0 1 2 1 1

KPI3 TBC (new) Review after 1st 

quarter
12% 17% 35.2

KPI4 95 95 100

82 90 60

KPI6 TBC (new) 80 88% 90% 86% 94% 92% 93%

TBC (new) 85.1 87% 83% 93% 49% 23% 81%

50 80 10.95% 13.04% 9.76% 2.17% 10.48% 9.02%

70 70 6.14 14.75 23.21 28.42 32.06 36.02

Number Number 177 425 669 819 924 1038

KPI10 TBC (new) TBC (new) 0  6  7  42
Equipment delivered in 1 day 90 95.15 96.3 99.08

Equipment delivered in 1 day to 
support hospital discharge

80 95.15 98.56 100

Equipment delivered in 1 day to 
prevent hospital admission 90 98.82 98 96.91

90 92

KPI13 TBC (new) TBC (new)
34 (OT)    

21 (CAO)
39 (OT)    

33 (CAO)
44 (OT)    

38 (CAO)
52 (OT)    

39 (CAO)
56 (OT)    

30 (CAO)
KPI14 TBC (new) TBC (new) 13% 22% 48% 63% 54% 55%

Joint Assessments TBC (new) TBC (new) 161 171 228 190 167 173
Separate Assessments TBC (new) TBC (new) 60 88 54 54 39 38

% of complaints 1st stage investigations completed and decision 
letter sent to complainant, within 28 days Number of compliant responses have a delay in either investigation or completion of report.

KPI7

KPI8

KPI12

KPI5

KPI2a

The % of service users who felt 
their outcomes were met 
following closure of the 

investigation (Q1, Q2, Q3, Q4)

This is now a mandatory question on Carefirst so should increase compliance.

KPI2b 
% of Adults who feel safe 
following a safeguarding 

adults enquiry (Q1, Q2, Q3, Q4)
System is place now to highlight unsafe responses, these are passed to Principle Manager for Safeguarding. Team Managers are now 
required to also escalate upwards to PM. Audits will  be taking place and requests for individual staff to flag up any individuals saying 
they sti l l  feel unsafe.

This is a new KIP and the data reporting and sources are not currently reliable - work is progressing to 
resolve this with SCC business intell igence.

Performance has recovered since July and August, PM’s to look at any delays in signing off ILA 
which could cause delays. Request has been made to look at last 3 months to look for reasons 
for significant variance in numbers 

% of service users who receive Home Care services within 2 days 
following completion of their care / support plan

% Service established and delivered within 28 days of ILA 
completed?

DFG

KPI11  % Equipment received by 
service user within 1 day 

81.8

KPI15
Total Number of completed 

carers assessments 

OT assessment waiting time in weeks

Adult Wheelchair assessments completed within 18 wks (%) (Q1, 
Q2, Q3, Q4) Covid pressures meant the first quarter performance was under planned levels however, the service has 

a robust recovery plan and is making good progress with this plan as demonstrated by the Q2 data.

% of carers assessment completed within 28 days where 

87.8

16%

Indicator Description

KPI9
% adults with funded packages that have had reassessment and 

number of unique reassessments completed (annual)

The % of new DOLs applications completed within 21 days, 
including non-working days 

% of complaints acknowledged by letter and an accompanying 
action plan, within 3 days

% of independence led assessments (ILA) completed within 28 
days

KPI1

The % of service users (or their 
representatives) involved in a 

safeguarding investigation who 
were asked to provide their 

preferred outcomes Q1, Q2, Q3, 
Q4 

Page 53



  

3.5 Equally the local ASC KPI performance have shown limited performance stress in the 
face of Covid pressure. There has been some impact of the ‘referral to treatment’ target for 
wheelchair provision, however performance only dipped marginally in Q1 and began to 
recover in Q2. There have been some delays in reporting on complaints, but these are now 
being addressed and performance will show significant recovery in Q3.
3.6 There is work being undertaken to recover the position on Independence-Led 
Assessment completion with performance improving during the last reporting month.
3.7 Many of the other KPIs are new and we have agreed to measure the performance 
numbers during 2020/21 and then derive targets and thresholds for 2021/22. However, it is 
encouraging that operational leads in SCO are reporting that these new measures are more 
productive in focussing attention and effort on the key operational pathways and services. 
This includes a sharper focus on safeguarding and carers assessment, which allows for more 
meaningful discussion and scrutiny at the ASC Commissioning Group and on into reporting 
to Lead Member.
3.8 Over the next two quarters we will ensure the new performance framework will be applied 
to support our ASC system through the next phase of the Covid crisis and through the Winter 
period. We will also apply benchmarking using the GM ASC Tableau system that is also being 
recovered following the first phase of Covid.
3.9 Finally ASC has been working with Healthwatch Salford to plan a deep-dive 
neighbourhood assessment of ASC through the initial phase of the Covid crisis and on into 
the next phase. This work is currently in the planning stage and will likely commence in 
January 2021. The outputs and recommendations of this deep-dive will be reported to the 
Adults Commissioning Committee.

4. Adult Safeguarding
4.1 The Covid 19 crisis has introduced significant operational and practical challenges to the 
delivery of adults safeguarding duties. Safeguarding leads in Salford Care Organisation have 
developed and applied new and novel approaches to ensure those critical safeguarding duties 
were maintained throughout the crisis.

4.2 A revised approach to Safeguarding Adults quality assurance has been introduced. This 
includes:

 audits built into supervision process 
 2 audits each month by Principal Managers overseen by an Adult Safeguarding lead
 Deep dive audits on focussed areas of practice 
 Safeguarding Adults audit template to audit against Care Act duties also been mapped 

out to form part of a wider case file audit. 

Page 54



  

This framework will be incorporated into the broader ASC Quality Assurance framework that 
is currently being developed.

4.3 Safeguarding Adults audit has been conducted on 13 cases. The audit was conducted 
for cases between April 2019 and Nov 2019 where the person felt unsafe or very unsafe at 
the end of the enquiry. The cases included adults at risk who had received a Section 42 
enquiry and came from the integrated teams (8 cases), the Joint Learning Disability Teams 
(3) and the Review Team (2).

4.4 Findings of the audit showed that the cases fell into one of three groups:
a) Issues relating to a domiciliary care provider where the person felt unsafe due to 

the standard of provision (6/13 - 46% of the cases audited)
b) Resident on resident violence in supported tenancies (2/13 = 23%)
c) Incorrect recording (6/13 = 46 %)

4.5 Actions taken as a result of the findings from the audit:

 All the information was forwarded to Principal Managers to discuss cases with the 
Team Managers.

 Due to the level of concern over one case with repeated safeguarding concerns the 
Head of Service met with the Team Manager involved to review the case and an action 
plan learning model was used with the Team to identify learning. 

4.6 Actions from this work are:

 All chairs to revisit safeguarding procedures/thresholds  
 Update the Chairs flowchart  
 Arrange internal training update with Chairs/investigating officers
 Introduce a ‘crib sheet’ for duty workers
 Highlight to the team manager if more than one similar safeguarding incident  
 Internal monthly department audit to be carried out by leads to monitor processes
 Highlight need to review safeguarding cases
 Bring such cases to attention of Principal Managers

4.7 Additional process has been put in place to monitor cases where the person is recorded 
as feeling unsafe or very unsafe at the end of the enquiry. To safeguard in the future the L/D 

Page 55



  

team and Integrated Team Manager will escalate to Principal Managers for oversight any 
cases which have an outcome of unsafe following a Section 42 enquiry This protocol update 
was circulated to Principal Managers on the 15/9/20.  All these cases will initially be discussed 
in supervision (this is referenced in the revised ASC Supervision Policy).
4.8 Audit on 53 safeguarding referrals to Greater Manchester Mental Health between April 
2020 and June 2020.
4.9 This audit was conducted by the ASC Lead in GMMH because only 3 of 53 referrals 
proceeded to a Section 42 enquiry. A sample of 25 referrals for this period was selected as 
randomly as possible and to ensured there is a fairly even spread across the responsible 
teams; Cromwell (7), Prescott (7), Ramsgate (3), Older Adults Community Mental Health (6) 
and Early Intervention (2). There is a higher number for Cromwell, Prescott and the OACMHT 
as there were more referrals for those teams.

4.10 The trend cannot be explained by data quality issues. The question 'Safeguarding 
Discussion: Is this proceeding to a formal Section 42 Enquiry?', was left blank for 6 of the 53 
cases but none of these proceeded. 

4.11 The following themes were identified from the 25 cases: 

 5 appeared to be inappropriate referrals into the teams for safeguarding.
 10 appeared to be appropriate 'managed outside of safeguarding responses' (often 

via continuing Care Programme Approach, care coordination).
 6 with indications they should have proceeded to a formal Section 42 enquiry (5 of 

these were Prescott cases).
 3 were unclear whether 'managed outside of Safeguarding' responses were 

appropriate due to the documentation not being clear.
 1 mistakenly opened form.

4.12 Actions taken since the audit to address practice issues:

 Section 42 Enquiry Lead training to each of the 4 Community Mental Health Teams 
and Early Intervention Team. 

 There is now a safeguarding Data Quality report in operation which highlights cases 
with outstanding issues (e.g. mandatory fields not complete, forms not signed off).

 Periodic audits are being planned - so that issues can be identified and addressed at 
an early stage in order to promote best practice across the teams

 A case file audit for the remaining 25 cases is now also going to be completed in-light 
of the findings from the initial 25 cases.    

Page 56



  

4.13 Self-Neglect Advisory Panel is being developed as an action from Safeguarding Adult 
Review ‘Andy’. The policy and process has now been developed and will go back to the 
Salford Safeguarding Adults Board in December for sign off and will start in the New Year. 

5. Community-Led Support
5.1 Strengths-based practice is a collaborative process between the individual and those 
providing support, which encourages working together to determine an outcome that draws 
on the person’s strengths and assets.  As such, it concerns itself principally with the quality 
of the relationship that develops between those providing support and those being supported, 
as well as the elements that the person seeking support brings to the process.  Working in a 
collaborative way promotes the opportunity for individuals to be co-producers of services and 
support rather than solely consumers of those services. 

5.2 The term ‘strength’ refers to the different elements that help or enable the individual to 
deal with challenges in life in general and in meeting their needs and achieving their desired 
outcomes in particular. These elements include: 

 Their personal resources, abilities, skills, knowledge, potential, etc.
 Their social network and its resources, abilities, skills, etc.
 Community resources, also known as ‘social capital’ and/or ‘universal resource’

“Social Care Institute for Excellence – March 2015”

5.3 Strengths-based approaches are at the heart of the Care Act 2014 which was introduced 
on 1st April 2015. In addition to replacing outdated legislation that was not compatible with 
the Human Rights Act 1998 and Mental Capacity Act 2005.  The Care Act 2014 moved away 
from ‘care management’ which was introduced by the NHS and Community Care Act 1990.  
This approach was built around a deficit model of Adult Social Care assessment and support 
planning, which did little to support and build on the strengths of the individual, or their 
available networks, therefore increasing people’s dependence on long term funded support 
with no clear link to a good quality life. 
5.4 Section 1 of the Care Act 2014 places an overriding duty on local authorities and their 
partners to ensure the promotion of people’s wellbeing and independence is central to all the 
functions undertaken. This is best achieved through a strengths-based approach to the 
assessment conversation, which enables people to be supported to understand their needs, 
realise what they can achieve independently, and how to best use their skills and networks 
(including community assets), to achieve their outcomes. Section 2 of the Care Act 2014 also 

Page 57



  

places a statutory duty of local authorities to prevent, delay and reduce needs for care and 
support, which can again be achieved by taking an approach embedded within strengths-
based approaches.
5.5 Salford is working with the National Development Team for Inclusion (NDTI) to take 
forward an approach to strengths-based working known as Community Led Support. The 
approach will be developed with front line practitioners and will support staff to spend more 
time with people in a way that recognises the value of building relationships in order to support 
people to live the lives they choose.  This is achieved through developing a deeper 
understanding of each person’s unique view of the world and views about what makes a good 
quality life, which replaces a formulaic approach to deficit model assessment and support 
planning.   
5.6 Whilst work had commenced at the start of 2020 this was quickly stepped down in March 
2020 at the start of the Covid-19 crisis with the work of all key stakeholders being directed to 
the provision and continuity of care and support during the pandemic. The on-going 
challenges of living with COVID will impact on how we develop new models of health and 
care and the way in which we build and maintain relationships. Start-up meetings have 
recommenced with NDTI as the approach is pivotal in ensuring we build back better and 
embed the learning we have gained from working differently throughout the on-going 
pandemic.

The following is a summary of the actions that have progressed recently: 

 Introductory / re-engagement & awareness sessions have been completed with 
integrated neighbourhood leadership teams in September and October.

 Community Led Support steering group has been established and met for the first time 
on the 21st October 2020 and undertook the following actions

o Reviewed Terms of Reference with suggestions on membership.
o Considered five Expressions of Interest to be an innovation site (Centre of 

Contact (initial scope to be confirmed), Home first Single Assessment point and 
3 nominations from integrated neighbourhood teams).

o Advice from the NDTI was to commence with two sites only and the group 
proposed taking forward the centre of contact and one of integrated 
neighbourhood nominations. This will be considered at the VCSE leadership 
event on the 4th November and final decisions on innovation sites will be 
confirmed following this meeting. 

o Review an overarching evidence and learning framework which will support co-
production of innovation site plans and be linked to the Market Strategy work 

Page 58



  

 Big Health & Care reset conversation: agreed questions to provide some citizen 
experience & citizen interest for co-design and lived experience group has been 
proposed.

 16 of the 86 days of NDTi time used to support above and AQUA have offered some 
support to innovation sites also.

 Programme plan in draft and will include a risk assessment.
 CLS will build on and inform NBH leadership development work.

6. Adult Social Care Market Management
6.1 Oversight of the ASC market has been maintained throughout the Covid crisis and we 
continue to monitor the status of providers through twice weekly sit-reps for care homes and 
home care. The report covers the critical areas of PPE stock, staffing levels, the risk of an 
outbreak and ability to accept placements / packages of care. This information is reported 
through to Greater Manchester Health & Social Care Partnership, North West ADASS and 
used for local Salford reporting to the ASC Market Strategy Group.  
6.2 The GM H&SCP sit rep data is reported through Tableau system and allows the Team to 
analyse the data at Provider level, identify emerging themes but also generate an overall 
OPEL risk score (1 being low risk & 4 being high risk)

6.3 Current state (03/11/20) of the ASC market – Care Homes & Homecare  

Care Homes Homecare

Average OPEL score across GM: 1.9 Average OPEL score across GM: 2.2

Page 59



  

6.4 The current OPEL score for care homes identifies no significant risk to the Salford System 
and whilst we have 4 homes currently rated as RED (i.e. with a COVID outbreak), this is 
significantly less than in wave one and the start of wave two. These homes are being actively 
supported by PH colleagues.
6.5 The graph below identifies 2.5% of Salford Care Home residents have COVID symptoms 
against a GM average of 2.9%. Staffing availability is currently 95%, the same as the GM 
average. 

6.6 The OPEL score for Homecare has been at an average of 2 for most of the pandemic but 
has recently increased to 2.8. This is due to an increase in the number of staff absent from 
work. Contracted Homecare providers have stated this is because of a number of staff: 

 Testing positive with COVID-19.
 Self-isolating due to contact with a positive case.
 Having to undertake childcare duties due to their children having to self-isolate 

because of positive cases in school. 

Page 60



  

6.7 Salford currently is standing at 83% against a GM average of 92%. This is mainly due to 
three of Salford top five home care providers experiencing staff absences of approx. 20% of 
the workforce. Regular discussions are taking place with Homecare Providers to ensure the 
continuity of care for people supported and assurance has been given that all calls are 
covered despite the high percentage of staff absentees.  
6.8 We have applied a similar sit-rep approach for Supported Living and Extra Care as there 
is currently no national or regional requirement to collect data from these two ASC sectors. 
Despite an outbreak within one Extra Care scheme (at the time of writing this report) – all 
services are reporting no significant issues or area of concern. Weekly meetings are taking 
place with Housing Providers, Operational staff, Care Provider, Health Protection Team and 
Market Management to ensure a joined-up approach to the delivery of services within Extra 
Care. 
6.9 Supported Living, covering learning disabilities, mental health and physical disabilities, is 
currently in a stable position – staff absences have increased but not to levels of concern at 
this moment in time. Regular discussions with Providers take place to monitor any potential 
risks to the continuity of care. 
6.10 The Department of Health & Social Care has selected Salford as a COVID testing site 
within Extra Care and Supported Living. Although in its early stages of implementation 
discussion with Providers are taking place to train workers to undertake the tests, which 
initially will be a one-off testing for staff and individuals supported. The intention of the pilot 
will inform a proposal to implement regular testing within supported living and extra care in a 
similar way to the weekly testing within Salford Care Homes. 
6.11 We continue to have close working relationships with Providers through: 

 A weekly email with key national, regional and national developments. 
 A weekly conference call with Care Home Providers. 
 Regular catch up meetings with Homecare Providers. 
 Weekly meeting with Extra Care Providers, Housing Providers and other key 

personnel. 
6.12 The Department of Health & Social Care recently requested all Local Authorities to 
commission beds from ‘designated’ care homes for positive COVID-19 patient’s discharges 
from hospital. The Salford Care Home market has been approached and there are currently 
two homes interested in providing these beds, with one being put forward for initiate 
considerations.
6.13 Discussions with the homes are on-going. There are a number of issues to resolve 
including obtaining appropriate insurance cover for such as a service. This has been 
escalated to NWADASS as it is an issue that care homes are facing nationally. 

Page 61



  

6.14 In the absence of having a local ‘designated’ care home the current guidance on hospital 
discharge for people into a care home applies. This means our health and care system can 
maintain safe discharges in accordance with national published guidance.    
6.15 We are progressing development with out discharge to access (DTA) pathway. We are 
in the process of identifying discharge to assess beds from the Care Home market in 
accordance with national hospital discharge guidance. The beds will meet need in the 
following areas:

o Residential care.
o Nursing care. 
o Complex dementia (residential & nursing).

 The benefits of commissioning such beds will:
o Ensure individuals are assessed in a setting outside of hospital so an informed 

decision can be taken about long-term care needs. 
o Stabilise the care home market at a time when some homes are experiencing 

a reduction in occupancy levels due to COVID-19. 
o National hospital discharge funding will cover the full costs of the placements 

for a period of up to six weeks in total. 

6.16 Matters relating to the implementation of new fee rates for ASC service to secure the 
Salford ambition of £9.30 minimum pay to learning disability supported living workforce and 
£9.00 per hour for all other ASC service sectors (Including Homecare & Care Homes) from 1 
October 2020 is picked up in the finance report presented to ACC.
6.17 We have a programme of development work that is focussed on a number of key 
services and pathways. Again, these priorities were agreed pre-Covid and we are now 
progressing this work under a dedicated work plan and programme board:

 Care Homes: To ensure our care home market is able to provide high quality support 
to older people with higher levels of need, typically needs associated with complex 
dementia and frailty included for people with and without nursing needs. This is a 
current commissioning gap in our market. This work will include a new service 
specification, fee rates, service model and service pathways. It will require joint 
planning and delivery with market providers.

 Home Care: To ensure our Home Care (domiciliary care) services are able to ensure 
they are responsive to the overnight care needs of vulnerable people and also more 
responsive to variable levels of need. This will mean more people will be able to have 
their needs met in their own home environment, reducing the need to seek support 
from a care home setting. While the current service specification describes 
approaches that would meet overnight needs and also to response to variation in the 

Page 62



  

levels of need, the current service model does not respond to this. This project will 
seek to test and learn and apply an approach within the existing provider market. It will 
require a co-design approach and an increase in provision capacity. There will also be 
a focus on lower level needs support and ‘pop-in’ visits to review the current approach 
and test new approaches linked to strengths-based community led support. Salford 
benchmarks high (in GM) for the number for short, pop-in visits and therefore our 
ambition is to secure learning from other areas and develop a best-practice approach 
for Salford.

 Extra Care: A new service specification was approved in January 2020. Covid has 
impacted on the progress for implementing this new specification but this work has 
now recommenced. The new specification will lead to a new service model that will 
enable a greater range of needs to be met within the Extra Care service. This will mean 
a reduction in the need for care home placements at the lower end of need as more 
people will be able to take advantage of the ‘home for life’ approach delivered by Extra 
Care. Over the next few months, we will be developing our approach (with SCO) to the 
tendering of the new care service within Extra Care. The recent business case for the 
expansion of Extra Care also identified the cost benefit of Extra Care and this will be 
applied to the tender process for the existing schemes.

 Direct Payment: Direct Payments provide people with more choice and control about 
how the utilise their personal budget for care. Often people who have a direct payment 
make more cost-effective choices and those choices are more adaptable to the 
persons changing levels of need. Salford has traditionally had low levels of take up of 
Direct Payments amongst people with eligible care needs. We will be working through 
a project over this financial year to test and learn new approaches to delivering more 
Direct Payment solutions for people who have a personal budget, i.e. those people 
who have eligible needs under the Care Act.

 Learning Disability and Complex Needs: There is an opportunity to review the care 
and support offered to people who live in our Support Tenancy Network. This includes 
overnight care options and technology enabled care. The LD and Complex Needs 
service will work with the Care Providers in the Supported Tenancy schemes to 
develop test of change for new service models. These will be focused on the strengths-
based approached and best value. There will be a stronger focus on technology 
including the knowledge and awareness amongst staff and people living in the 
schemes.

Page 63



  

7. Adult Social Care Market Shaping Strategy
7.1 Coming into Covid, strategic commissioners were concluding the work to present a new 
ASC Market Shaping Strategy – which is a requirement under Section 5 of the Care Act. This 
work has now restarted and is nearing completion. This section provides an ‘early view’ of 
some of the important elements of Salford’s ASC Market Shaping Strategy.
7.2 Salford’s Market Development Strategy which is the starting point for developing a stronger 
more effective partnership between Strategic Commissioners in Salford City Council and 
Salford Clinical Commissioning Group, Salford Care Organisation and independent health 
and social care providers, which will be necessary to deliver a strengths-based person 
centred, sustainable care and support market that is fit for the future.
7.3 The strategy is the culmination of a strategic review of the way we have historically worked 
to shape and deliver our Adult Social Care market responsibilities and service. It recognises 
the good work that we have carried out over recent years, the aspects that we wish to improve 
upon and set out the ways in which we will deliver the actions and approaches to realise that 
transformation that will secure the best possible outcomes for the people of Salford.

7.4 We are all  likely to be touched by adult social care at some point in our lives, but the 
current model of ASC at a local and national level is not sustainable in the context of funding 
pressures, increased demand, increases in complexity of need and expectations of statutory 
services. The Local Government Association set out a series of recommendations (The lives 
we want to lead - towards change, towards hope) which it has asked the Government to 
reflect on in the Green Paper for ASC. 

7.5 In addition to this, the recent experience of the global pandemic will give further insight 
into how adult social care could work differently to provide creative solutions that support 
sustainable ASC provision. In setting the way forward for delivering a sustainable model of 
adult social care for Salford we are committed to developing our approaches to support 
people to live well at home, leading the lives they choose to lead within the locally available 
resources.  This will help develop a legacy that meets the needs of current and future 
recipients of adult social care support.

7.6 The approach to developing adult social care in Salford will be founded on the culture and 
principles of co-operation, inclusivity and democracy. We will work with people as we re-
shape the quality and range of ASC services that we have in our city, working together to 
build our future. 

7.7 We want to promote and secure a vibrant adult social care market that is continually 
shaping around the changing needs of people and that is supported by a knowledgeable and 
skilled workforce who are rewarded for the great work they do. We want to foster a culture 

Page 64



  

for quality improvement and innovation. We want Salford to be a beacon of excellence for 
adult social care that promotes and secures high quality life experiences for Salford people.
7.8 Salford, like most Councils nationwide, has produced a Market Position Statement (MPS) 
in response to the Care Act 2014 market management duties.  Whilst the MPS has served a 
purpose in describing the structure of the market, it is the start of a process. 

7.9 Integration and the perception of local willingness to innovate have historically attracted 
providers to deliver services in Salford.  As such, a ‘best in class’ approach to market 
development should consider going above and beyond the traditional structure and content 
of the MPS to include: 

 grappling with new challenges and opportunities brought about by a truly integrated care 
system.

 considering the benefits brought about by closer working with the health sector.
 providing people with more choice and control over decisions that affect their lives. 

7.10 In 2019, Salford commissioned a review of our local approach to the MPS. During the 
course of the review, we challenged the MPS’ traditional approach to market development, 
which historically focused on the act of ‘counting how many providers we have of ‘type A’ and 
how many ‘type B and C’ we need in the future’. 

7.11 The concept of a market ‘hall’ was utilised to describe this provider market – with ‘stalls’ 
acting as providers and the ‘hall’ as a structure that entices trade and offers a positive 
environment for growth. By switching the focus of the review from the individual stalls we 
intend to attract to the market hall as the operating environment in which the Salford 
partnership can actively influence, we make the fundamental distinction that as an area we 
can only develop or attract ‘type B and C’ stalls if the environment is right (market shaping). 
Therefore, the actions contained in this strategy are designed to promote a positive and 
nurturing environment for providers to flourish.  We have not yet seen an MPS that tackles 
the challenge of market shaping from this angle and in doing so we expect to allow unique 
creativity and innovation to our working with providers in future.

7.12 A key challenge for health and social care systems is making sense of what we 
collectively mean when we refer to market shaping. Definitions range from ‘collaboration to 
encourage and facilitate the market’; through to ‘activity to understand needs with the ultimate 
purpose of creating individual choice’. The definition we developed, which has underpinned 
the review is: “The extent to which the systems, processes and behaviours at the interface 
between social work, commissioners, self-funders and providers influence the variety, quality, 
availability and price of services offered to customers both now and in the future.”

Page 65

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/387174/adult-social-care-market-position-statement.pdf


  

7.13 In the time between undertaking the review in 2019 and producing this strategy, we have 
experienced an unprecedented pandemic which has taken its toll on every aspect of our lives. 
As we continue to take steps to address the challenges of the pandemic we will continue to 
apply the principles of cooperation and collaboration as set out in the Market Strategy 
document, and at the same time continue to learn the important lessons so we can move 
forward and secure the best possible outcome for our ASC market in meeting the needs of 
people in Salford. In doing so we recognise that we will need a strong focus to understand 
and apply those presenting opportunities - also that the pace and scale of our ambitions will 
need to be reviewed as we move forward together to deliver the shared vision.

7.14 It is clear that commissioners and providers alike need to build better arrangements for 
working together within the care and support market if they are to deliver the new models of 
provision needed in Salford and to improve quality, increased choice and control for 
individuals and to deliver a much more responsive and efficient commissioning and delivery 
model.  Key pillars for the successful delivery of this strategy will be:

1. Strengthening the voice of providers in the development of the market.
2. Utilising the wealth of information gathered from people/carers/experience etc contact.
3. Empowering all staff to build on strengths based and place-based approaches which 

values the capacity, skills, knowledge, connections and potential in individuals and 
communities, and supports commissioners to shape the market by developing services 
that meet these aspirations.

7.15 During our 2019 review of Salford’s care market, we identified a number of market 
enablers (figures below) for growing a sustainable and diverse market which responds to 
changes in need and maximises people’s independence, taking the market hall concept 
further.

7.16 The nature of the enablers demonstrates the need to move towards a new method of 
market development, moving away from what we have historically purchased and what we 
think we may need in the future, to how we purchase and create an new environment for the 
market to flourish.

Page 66



  

7.17 To deliver this new way of working we think it is important that expectations are clear. 
Providers can expect the following from us; 

1. We are clear about our long-term approach to the market, what outcomes we want to 
achieve and what customers have told us they want from services. This will be 
communicated through new engagement channels to the market, together with the 
production of an annual ‘State of the Care Market’ report.

2. Create an environment to foster innovation and maximise outcomes. We will review 
tendering and procurement processes, evaluate their impact on the provider market 
and explore how improvements can be made that will help promote flexibility in service 
provision and co-produced solutions which will promote person centred care, 
maximise independence, choice and control for people in receipt of services. Providers 
need to be clear with local authorities what they consider is wrong with their 
procurement processes and how they could be improved. 

3. Pass the principles of integration down the supply chain.

Page 67



  

7.18 What we expect from the marketplace and providers: 

4. Providers develop greater trust and are prepared to be more open about the things 
that could be improved together with being willing to share more intelligence such as 
service activity, impact and cost information (within the bounds of reasonable 
confidentiality). 

5. Providers will be proactive in the marketplace, recognising that needs are changing, 
and the market is much broader than statutory services and public sector 
commissioning. 

8. Recommendations
8.1 The members of the Adult Commissioning Committee are asked to:

 Review the content of the report.

 Provide any comment.

Name: Paul Walsh

Job title: Assistant Director of Integrated Commissioning

Page 68



Adults Commissioning Committee

Part 1

Agenda item number: 8

Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information

11th November 2020

Report of: David Warhurst/Phillip Kemp

Date of paper: 11th November 2020

Subject: Integrated Fund Business Plan and Financial Implications

In case of query please contact: David Warhurst

Strategic priorities (please mark with an X which priorities the paper 
relates to)

Priority Selection

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research: 

Integrated Community Care Services (Adult 
Services):

X

Children’s and Maternity Services: X

Primary Care: 

Enabling Transformation: X

Purpose of paper: This paper updates briefly in relation to the locality 
priorities, provides a high level overview of the costs and looks to 
provide the committees with adequate information to consider the 

Page 69

Agenda Item 8



continuation of priorities with the context of the overall financial 
position.

Further explanatory information required

Question Answer

How will this benefit the health 
and wellbeing of Salford 
residents or the Clinical 
Commissioning Group?

Continuous improvement of patient/resident 
services 

What risks may arise as a result 
of this paper? How can they be 
mitigated?

Raised expectations about what is feasible 
during this period of a Pandemic

What equality-related risks may 
arise as a result of this paper?  
How will these be mitigated?

Considered at an individual workstream 
level

Does this paper help address any 
existing high risks facing the 
organisation? If so what are they 
and how does this paper reduce 
them?

No specific, single risk

Please describe any possible 
conflicts of interest associated 
with this paper.

N/A

Please identify any current 
services or roles that may be 
affected by issues within this 
paper.

N/A

Footnote:

Members of the Adults Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly. Once 
papers are distributed no amendments are possible.

Page 70



  

3

Document development

Process Yes No Not 
applicable

Comments and date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, 
actual report)

Outcome

Public engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, 
event, consultation)

X

Clinical engagement
(Please detail the method  i.e. survey, 
event, consultation)

X Developed with the Adults Advisory 
Board members

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social 
Value and the impacts on the residents of 
Salford socially, economically and 
environmentally (including climate 
change)?

X To be considered for individual 
projects

P
age 71



  

4

Process Yes No Not 
applicable

Comments and date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, 
actual report)

Outcome

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality 
Analysis (EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks 
and how these will be managed) 

X To be considered for individual 
projects

Legal advice sought
X

Presented to any informal groups or 
committees (including partnership groups) 
for engagement or other formal 
governance groups for comments / 
approval? 
(Please specify in comments)

X Adults Advisory Group

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work 
and ensure there is clarity in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether 
amendments were requested about a particular part of the work

P
age 72



  

5

Adults Commissioning Committee Annual Business Plan 
Update and Financial Implications

1. Executive summary

The locality refreshed its business plan for the remainder of 2020/21, with the proposal being 
presented to Health Care Commissioning Board and Commissioning Committees in 
September 2020. At the time of presenting the business plan, it was clear that the financial 
regimes for both the NHS and Local authorities still required a lot of clarity. Therefore at the 
time of presenting the plan, it wasn’t possible to ascertain the level of financial risk or the 
affordability of the proposed priorities. 

The committees have also been clear of the need to ensure the overall plan is considered, 
rather than business cases being considered in isolation.  Primarily as this could result in the 
allocation of funding on a first come basis, rather than on a holistic overview of priorities. 

This paper updates briefly in relation to the priorities, provides a high level overview of the 
costs and looks to provide the committees with adequate information to consider the 
continuation of priorities with the context of the overall financial position.  The paper includes 
the detail of all priorities and not just those where the decision to approve is governed by the 
meeting that the paper is being presented to. This is to provide an overview of the level of 
investment that is required of the integrated fund. 

Section 3 provides an overview of the localities financial position and affordability. Recognising 
there are still a significant number of unknowns relating to finances, the proposal is that the 
system priorities identified should be worked up into business cases, recognising that the 
locality agreed these are critical to recovery and restoration. 

For the Adults Committee, after the inclusion of these strategies and also pre-committed 
investments agreed prior to COVID, there will be a £1m savings target, which is in line with the 
fund’s starting point at the beginning of the financial year. 

The Adults Commissioning Committee is asked to:

 Consider the proposed priorities, the affordability of the business plan and review the 
recommendation that the locality should continue with the proposed level of investment 
– noting that the final decision to invest will be predicated on the successful approval at 
a business case to the committee.

 Note the risks identified in section 5.

Page 73



  

6

2. Background and Process

2.1 After the business plan for each of the committees was signed off in July, finance and 
commissioning colleagues reviewed both the level of ambition in relation to the rising 
cases of COVID 19 and also the potential costs of investment. 

2.2 This aligned to further information being received regarding the context of the financial 
position of the CCG and Salford City Council leaving the system better placed to align 
the financial ask and the consequences to the fund. 

2.3 The Service Finance Group (SFG) held a meeting dedicated to the review and 
challenge of the strategies; primarily focusing on how likely it was that the locality would 
be able to actually spend the money – looking at limiting factors such as recruitment. 
Section 4 is the output of the SFG review. 

2.4 Additionally to the investment described in the paper, NHS providers have included 
significant expenditure plans to support the recovery of statutory constitutional targets. 
Where in a previous year, this would have been managed through commissioners and 
been included in our business plan, the command and control approach has meant that 
providers have received this funding directly, thus it doesn’t form part of the localities 
business plan.

3. Financial Overview

3.1 At the start of the financial year, the integrated funds, still includes a level of financial 
risk:

 Adults Commissioning Committee – At the start of the financial year, to afford the 
proposed expenditure and investments, the fund would have required a £2m saving 
target.
 

 Children’s Commissioning Committee – Whilst a £5m contingency was added to 
the fund, the 2019/20 overspend was c£7.5m. It was expected the Children’s 
Transformation investment would bridge the £2.5m (£7.5m - £5m) financial gap 
between 19/20 and the contingency.

 Primary Care Commissioning Committee - £0.2m saving target, although this 
didn’t include funding all the overspend of £0.5m in 19/20 and therefore as well as 
the savings target, there would be an inherent risk if expenditure didn’t reduce.

Page 74



  

7

3.2 As a result of the close locality working and the NHS financial regime, an element of 
financial risk for the first six months of the financial year have been mitigated. The 
summary position of the fund is highlighted below:

 Adults Commissioning Committee – Savings target, after the investments 
identified is now expected to be £1m until the end of the year. There is a rational for 
how this saving target will be delivered.
 

 Children’s Commissioning Committee – Forecast overspend is c£2.6m, in line 
with the potential overspend at the beginning of the year. This is a risk averse 
positon, recognising the likely impact of COVID 19 and therefore could reduce prior 
to the end of the financial year, 

 Primary Care Commissioning Committee – At the time of writing the report, this is 
still being finalised, but the main risks will relate to the cost of COVID services and 
increased costs of prescribing. The CCG has included these risks within its financial 
position. 

3.3 The level of allocation to the funds and financial risks identified above has been 
included within the financial potions of the Council and CCG. Whilst both organisations 
are currently forecasting a deficit year end position, work is on-going, including national 
discussions that are expected to improve these positions. 

3.4 The locality does need to continue to consider the implications recurrently of investment 
and the risk that the system doesn’t have oversight of future finance regimes. 

4. Potential cost of business plan

4.1 Table 1, below illustrates that the potential overall cost of the business plan could be 
£3.1m in year and £7.1m recurrently. 

Table 1 – Potential cost of business plan

Page 75



  

8

4.2 It should be noted, that costs could change when the business case underpinning the 
business plan are presented and this is an estimated costs based on the most upto date 
information.

5. Risks

5.1 Recurrent pressure - The risk that the funding available to the system changes 
fundamentally as a result of the pandemic.

5.2 COVID Wave 2 – The funding made available and services suggested may not cover 
the implications of the pandemic continuing to rise.

5.3 National Funding – There are a number of NHS national streams of funding that are 
expected in relation to Independent sector. If these are not received, there could be a 
risk to the Adults positon.

5.4 Grants - It is worth noting that the grants the council received were rolled over for 
2020/21 and at present it is unknown if any of these will continue beyond 2020/21 given 
they were set to end in March 2020. In particular for Adults’ there is a significant risk if 
any of the ASC grants are not renewed beyond 2020/21.

5.5 Grants - It is worth noting that the grants the council received were rolled over for 
2020/21 and at present it is unknown if any of these will continue beyond 2020/21 given 
they were set to end in March 2020. In particular for Adults’ there is a significant risk if 
any of the ASC grants are not renewed beyond 2020/21.

6. Recommendations

6.1 Consider the proposed priorities, the affordability of the business plan and review the 
recommendation that the locality should continue with the proposed level of investment 
– noting that the final decision to invest will be predicated on the successful approval at 
a business case to the committee.

6.2 Note the risks identified in section 5.

Page 76



  

9

DETAILED OVERVIEW OF THE KEY THEMES ADULTS

7. Theme 1 – Adults Mental health

OVERVIEW

7.1 Mental health is a key priority locally, regionally and nationally with ambitious 
expectations and targets identified in the NHS Long Term Plan (LTP), with expected 
increased investment aligned to the Mental Health Investment Standard (MHIS).  
Furthermore it is widely recognised that Covid-19 has had, and will continue to have, a 
significant impact on the mental health and wellbeing of the population, particularly in 
light of social distancing and self-isolation, anxiety regarding current and impending 
economic uncertainty, anxiety around contracting the virus and people experiencing 
complex grief on an unprecedented scale.

7.2 The following three key priorities have been identified which will support COVID 
recovery in Salford and which are aligned to LTP requirements:

 New models of Community Mental Health / Living Well
 Mental Health Crisis
 Psychological Therapies (including IAPT)

7.3 Consequently, the proposed investment detailed in this section will support Salford’s 
fidelity to the LTP requirements regarding mental health and also develop the support 
structures we need to respond to and recover from COVID and the impact this will have 
on our local population. Table 2, provides a high level overview of the key proposals:

Table 2 - Detail of proposed investments (High level)

Proposed 
investment

Summary COVID 19 LTP  
Priority 

Bereavement 
Counselling

Bereavement Counselling for adults was a gap in Salford pre-COVID but 
has been particularly highlighted during the crisis.  Six Degrees has been 
commissioned to provide a Bereavement Support Service across GM, 
providing advice and support but this is not a counselling service.  Piloting a 
Bereavement Counselling service with Six Degrees would enable them to 
be the front door to bereavement support in Salford since as well as being 
the provider of the GM Bereavement Support Service they also operate 
Salford’s Shared Point of Access to IAPT so can take bereavement referrals 
and determine the most appropriate source of support 

Psychological 
Therapies

Page 77



  

10

Wellbeing 
Matters and 
Living Well

It was recognised at the outset of the work regarding Living Well that 
establishing operational links between Wellbeing Matters and Living Well 
will be crucial.  This will enable effective referral pathways to and from the 
two services providing the right support at the right time.  Pre-COVID 
approximately 30% of referrals to Wellbeing Matters we mental health 
related; post COVID this is nearer 50%.  Having a Mental Health 
Community Connector will help to further cement the links and pathways 
between these two elements of provision  

New models of 
Community 

Mental Health / 
Living Well

Crisis Beds & 
Safe Haven

Crisis Beds will prevent hospital admission and facilitate improved 
discharge.  This will not only provide an improved patient experience but will 
make better use of resources and see a reduction in costly out of area 
acute placements.   They will be 24/7 provision staffed by GMMH’s Home 
Based Treatment Team.  

Currently the only place in Salford to attend for people who are 
experiencing mental health crisis is A&E.  A Safe Haven is an alternative to 
A&E for lower level need and demand and is a gap in provision in Salford.  
This will reduce A&E attendances relating to mental health and ensure a 
more appropriate response to people’s presenting crisis  

Mental Health 
Crisis

Personality 
Disorders / 
Rehab

There are a number of people placed out of Salford in long term 
hospital/rehab placements.  This is because of the specific needs of these 
people and that there are not any appropriate local facilities to provide the 
very specific care and support; an example might be someone who 
specifically needs to be in a unit for females with personality disorders.  
Work is underway with GMMH to explore ways of repatriating some of this 
cohort to more local and possibly less restrictive settings.  This will see 
improved patient experience from being closer to friends and family and 
also reduced costs.  

New models of 
Community 

Mental Health / 
Living Well

IAPT

The GMMH IAPT service is now commissioned to meet the 25% access 
target. However the timing of when we added the recurrent funding and how 
the national team calculated GMMH’s contract means they have a short fall 
of £166K.

Psychological 
Therapies

MH Posts
Additional capacity in CMHTs to meet the neds of adults with serious 
mental illness  and ensure statutory duties regarding the Care Act and 
Mental Health Act are met 

New models of 
Community 

Mental Health / 
Living Well

MH 
Practitioners 
(MHPs)

This will be 
approved by 
Primary Care 

As part of the NHS Long Term Plan, localities are being asked to realign 
community mental health services with primary care networks (PCNs), 
creating ‘new and integrated models of primary and community mental 
health care’ by 2023/24.  To support these integrated models, Mental 
Health Practitioner (MHP) roles are included in the GP Contract Additional 
Roles Reimbursement Scheme from April 2021.

New models of 
Community 

Mental Health / 
Living Well

Page 78



  

11

Committee In Salford the remodelling of primary and community mental health care is 
being undertaken within the Living Well work.  There is therefore an 
opportunity for PCNs to have additional identifiable MHP input with further 
support via the Living Well MDT which would result in greater resilience and 
a more multi-disciplinary offer and ensure Salford has a cohesive and 
integrated front door to mental health in the future.

COSTING

7.4 The level of investment that is likely to be requested from the Adult’s Commissioning 
Committee is £0.8m in year and £1.1m recurrently as illustrated in the table below. As 
part of this theme, the Mental Health posts in primary care (£0.95m recurrently), will go 
to the primary care commissioning committee for decision.    

Table 3 – Proposed cost (High level)

POTENTIAL SAVINGS AND COST AVOIDANCE

7.5 The expectation is that developments such as Crisis Beds and Rehab will be ‘invest to 
save’ and  see cashable savings as people are prevented from accessing or repatriated 
from more expensive out of area placements.  

7.6 Developments such as the Safe Haven will reduce attendance at A&E seeing a more 
effective use of resources.

7.7 Bereavement counselling and the new models of Community Mental Health will see a 
more preventative approach to meeting need which it is hoped should see reduced 
acuity longer term.

Page 79



  

12

8. Theme 2 – Adult Social Care

OVERVIEW

8.1 To deliver a financially sustainable and diverse adult social care market underpinned by 
strengths based & place-based principles and practice, which will promote individual 
wellbeing.

8.2 To ensure we continue to meet our Care Act duties in securing an Adult Social Care 
Market that offers choice for people, delivers high quality services and provides good 
employment conditions/standards for the workforces.

8.3 To explore cost effective solutions to creating new service offers that enable people to 
be supported in their preferred environment with a primary focus on peoples’ own 
homes and on their communities of care and support

8.4 To ensure that ASC services are established in a strong partnership within the health 
and social care system in Salford.

8.5 To achieve and celebrate the successes of such developments through cooperation 
and co-creation and through positive promotion and communication of successes 

8.6 The starting point for our ASC investment strategy is to work within an appropriate 
commissioning investment envelope. This will be based on an intelligence led service 
and financial assessment of our local system, alongside regional and national 
benchmarking, to ensure we are confident that our (per capita) investment matches our 
Salford context and our Salford ambition for ASC services.

8.7 For 2020/21 our investment plan will be to work within the initial budget envelop agreed 
at the start of the financial year. This is a prudent position based on the impact of 
COVID on ASC service demands. For future years, further assessment will be 
undertaken to determine the levels of ASC investment required

Table 4 - Detail of proposed investments (High level)

Proposed 
investment

Summary

Care Homes

To ensure our care home market is able to provide high quality support to older people with 
higher levels of need, typically needs associated with complex dementia and frailty include for 
people with and without nursing needs. This is a current commissioning gap in our market. 
This work will include a new service specification, free rates, service model and service 
pathways. It will require joint planning and delivery with market providers.

Page 80



  

13

Homecare

To ensure our Home Care (domiciliary care) services are able to ensure they are responsive 
to the overnight care needs of vulnerable people and also more responsive to variable levels 
of need. This will mean more people will be able to have their needs met in their own home 
environment, reducing the need to seek support from a care home setting.  While the current 
service specification describes approaches that would meet overnight needs and also to 
response to variation in the levels of need, the current service model does not respond to 
this. This project will seek to test and learn and apply an approach within the existing provider 
market. It will require a co-design approach and an increase in provision capacity. There will 
also be a focus on lower level needs support and ‘pop-in’ visits to review the current 
approach and test new approaches linked to strengths-based community led support. Salford 
benchmarks high (in GM) for the number for short, pop-in visits and therefore our ambition is 
to secure learning from other areas and develop a best-practice approach for Salford.

Extra Care

A new service specification was approved in January 2020. COVID as impacted on the 
progress for implementing this new specification but this work has now recommenced. The 
new specification will lead to a new service model that will enable a greater range of needs to 
be met within Extra Care service. This will mean a reduction in the need for care home 
placements at the lower end of need as more people will be able to take advantage of the 
‘home for life’ approach delivered by Extra Care. Over the next few months, we will be 
developing our approach (with SCO) to the tendering of the new care service within Extra 
Care. The recent business case for the expansion of Extra Care also identified the cost 
benefit of Extra Care and this will be applied to the tender process for the existing schemes.

Direct 
Payment

Direct Payments provide people with more choice and control about how the utilise their 
personal budget for care. Often people who have a direct payment make more cost-effective 
choices and those choices are more adaptable to the persons changing levels of need. 
Salford has traditionally had low levels of take up of Direct Payments amongst people with 
eligible care needs. We will be working through a project over this financial year to test and 
learn new approaches to delivering more Direct Payment solutions for people who have a 
personal budget, i.e., those people who have eligible needs under the Care Act.

Learning 
Disability and 
Complex 
Needs

There is an opportunity to review the care and support offered to people who live in our 
Support Tenancy Network. This includes overnight care options and technology enabled 
care. The LD and Complex Needs service will work with the Care Providers in the Supported 
Tenancy schemes to develop test of change for new service models. These will be founded 
on the Strengths Based approached and best value. There will be a stronger focus on 
technology including the knowledge and awareness amongst staff and people living in the 
schemes.

COSTING

8.8 No costing is included as it is anticipated that these strategies will be afforded within the 
current budget envelope for ASC.

Page 81



  

14

POTENTIAL SAVINGS AND COST AVOIDANCE

8.9 Potential cost saving by ensuring we place people in Salford care homes who have 
additional complexity and avoid making placements in more expensive out of area care 
homes.

8.10 Potential cost avoidance by maintaining care services in peoples’ own home, avoiding 
the need to apply a care home service.

8.11 Potential cost saving by reducing the number of pop-ins visits and replacing these with 
lower cost solutions that are more strengths-based.

8.12 Potential cost avoidance by support people with higher need/more complexity in Extra 
Care for their whole life, avoiding the need to apply a care home service.

8.13 Potential cost saving by creating novel solutions to meeting peoples’ eligible needs 
through a Direct Payment service offer.

8.14 Potential cost saving by re-shaping the care and support provided through our 
Supported Tenancy network.

9. Theme 3 – Adult Pathways

OVERVIEW

9.1 These are known reviews to adult’s pathway’s that are actively being looked at and are 
expected to have an incremental cost to improve the service offered to Salford people 
to reduce waits and/or to align to the preventative agenda.

Table 5 - Detail of proposed investments (High level)

Proposed 
investment

Summary

Integrated 
Care 
Diagnostic 
Units

There is an aim to shift diagnostics away from hospital site and into the community to create 
hubs which are more integrated with primary care as well as outpatient provision.

Community 
Developments

This is a catch all for some of the known developments for community services including 
diabetes prevention and heart failure pathways.

Page 82



  

15

COSTING

Table 6 – Proposed cost (High level)

POTENTIAL SAVINGS AND COST AVOIDANCE

9.2 None identified – will be considered as part of the full business case.

Page 83



  

16

DETAILED OVERVIEW OF THE KEY THEMES CHILDRENS

10. Theme 4 – Children’s Social Care

OVERVIEW

10.1 Giving every child the best start in life is crucial to reducing health inequalities across 
the life course. The foundations for virtually every aspect of human development – 
physical, intellectual and emotional– are laid in early childhood. What happens during 
these early years (starting in the womb) has lifelong effects on many aspects of health 
and well-being– from obesity, heart disease and mental health, to educational 
achievement and economic status. 

10.2 Inequalities in the early years have lifelong impacts, secondly, it is the period of life 
when interventions to disrupt inequalities are most effective and thirdly and related to 
the first two points, and interventions in the early years have been shown to be cost 
effective and to yield significant returns on investment. Salford’s Locality Plan focuses 
on three key objectives for children: I am a child who is physically and emotionally 
healthy, feel safe and able to live life in a positive way, I am a young person who will 
achieve their potential in life, with great learning, and employment opportunities, I am as 
good a parent as I can be. Work has been developed to address these objectives and 
the funding request for children’s provision reflects the areas of transformation and 
programmes which seek to reduce demand for provision. 

10.3 The children’s spend request relates to a number of developments which have been 
funded for the last two years and some new developments which will require recurrent 
funding. There have been historic levels of discrepancy between investment adults and 
children based on population size. Recognising the long term investment by investing in 
children we are preventing the saving into adults albeit longer term. There is a changing 
population and increasing complexity in children’s services. Recognising that invest to 
save models which will ultimately create demand avoidance are required as provision is 
predominantly needs led.  

Table 7 - Detail of proposed investments (High level)

Proposed 
investment

Summary

Young Carer's 
Working Group

Funding is anticipated to be required to invest in the earlier identification and support for 
young carers. Business case to be developed by March 2021.

Page 84



  

17

Complex 
Safeguarding Team 
-BOND

Achieving Change Together [ACT] is a strengths, relationship and evidence-based 
model for working with young people at risk of exploitation, who are also at risk of entry 
into care, placement breakdown or escalation of care. The model is built around an ACT 
worker, who works intensively with a small cohort of around 6 cases, typically for at least 
12 months. Business case at November 2020 CCC

Implement a whole 
system approach to 
Trauma and 
adversity BOND

Trauma informed response work continues, and an overarching strategy and action plan 
has been developed. A business case was submitted to Service and Finance Group to 
further invest in this thematic. Whilst the business case was agreed in principle as it was 
able to articulate the long-term investments that could be secured in developing trauma 
informed approaches across the city, the proposal to invest was agreed in principle at 
this point. The business case for Trauma and Adversity includes an investment in 
capacity around training, coordination and work with third sector organisations to create 
a social movement for change. Business case at November 2020 CCC

Domestic Abuse 
Services for 
Children BOND

As part of the BOND work Salford commissioned Trafford Domestic Abuse Services 
(TDAS) and Talk, Listen, Change (TLC) to run a two-year pilot, supporting children age 
5-18 who are affected by domestic abuse. The partnership project called Harbour is a 
trauma informed service and is designed to support children who have witnessed, been 
victim to or have portrayed behaviours deemed to be harmful to others under the 
definition of domestic abuse. Business case at November 2020 CCC

Route 29 BOND

Route 29 is an integrated service for adolescents with complex needs that brings 
together a team of specialists working together through a shared practice framework. 
The model operates as an edge of care/outreach service, focused around a re-purposed 
children’s home that acts as a hub to bring together a multi-disciplinary team Business 
case at November 2020 CCC

Supporting Parents 
Work

A parenting strategy is in development which will require resource to implement. 
Business Case to be developed by February 2021

Implementation of a 
new needs-led 
integrated neuro-
development 
pathway for 
children and young 
people aged 0-25:

Work is underway to implement a new way of working across Paediatrics, CAMHS, Early 
Help and our educational psychology service to better meet the needs of children with 
Autism and ADHD. Investment from the Population Health monies has allowed some 
testing. Business Case to be agreed as continuation of funding.    

Page 85



  

18

COSTING

Table 8 – Proposed cost (High level)

POTENTIAL SAVINGS AND COST AVOIDANCE

10.4 For the programmes listed as part of the Better Outcomes New Delivery Model the 
following cost avoidance will result: 

 Original estimated pressure reduction/cost avoidance against “do nothing” over 5 year 
period to 2023/24 £4.8m

 Actual placement cost avoidance to date against “do nothing” £2.315m

 Estimated cost avoidance from cases referred/open to all programmes not becoming 
Outside Placement £4m.

 Estimated long term cost avoidance of DA/Trauma Informed programme of £0.5m

 Maximum recurring cost of Bond programme to integrated fund £2.591m (21/22 prices)

10.5 Many of the programmes listed above will reduce demand on high cost services and will 
provide earlier intervention and support by managing need at a lower threshold such as 
the neurodevelopmental pathway. 

Page 86



  

19

10.6 Potential Savings - Remove current vacant posts within Route 29 (1*Portfolio Lead, 
1*Keyworker & 1 FGC Co-ordinator) which are currently either not required by the 
service or for the FGC role being provided from within existing Early Help resources. 
Saving £113k pa.

10.7 £0.2m Outreach Team saving.

11. Theme 5 – Children’s Physical Health

OVERVIEW

11.1 As per Children’s Social Care overview section 10.1 – 10.3

Table 9 - Detail of proposed investments (High level)

Proposed 
investment

Summary

Review of Community 
Paediatric Services 
and re-specification of 
the service

This is to redesign the service to better meet the needs of the City. Business case to 
be developed by February 2021.

Implement SEND 
Recommendations

Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission (CQC) jointly carried out an inspection of 
the local area and made recommendations for investment in a number of areas. 
Business Case to be developed by March 2021.

Review Access to 
Paediatric Acute 
Services

As part of the Theme 3 GM work a review of inpatient and emergency presentations 
is required.

Implement and 
evaluate the paediatric 
avoidable admissions 
care bundle

Salford was a pilot site for Greater Manchester to test new ways of working to reduce 
admissions for Asthma Epilepsy, Diabetes and Gastrointestinal admissions including 
a paediatric hotline for GPs, implementation of review of infant feeding practices

Ingleside Freestanding 
Birthing Unit

In order to continue to have babies born in Salford investment is required to support 
the development of an in reach model for maternity services in GM Business Case 
has been to CCC subject to approval of overall spend.

Start Well

Evaluate and embed agreed recommendations of the Start Well programme: we 
received GM investment to test a number of programmes and the programmes which 
evaluated well will require ongoing investment, including Universal Antenatal 
Parenting, Integrated Health and wellbeing work, work to support the 
neurodevelopment pathway and risky behaviours work Business Case to be 
developed by January 2021.

Page 87



  

20

COSTING

Table 10 – Proposed cost (High level) 

POTENTIAL SAVINGS AND COST AVOIDANCE

11.2 None identified – will be considered as part of the full business case.

12. Theme 6 – Children’s Mental Health

OVERVIEW

12.1 As per Children’s Social Care overview section 8.1 – 8.3

Table 11 - Detail of proposed investments (High level)

Proposed 
investment

Summary

Co-ordinate the 
approach for parent-
infant mental health

To provide early intervention to improve attachment and bonding. A business case 
has been approved for this work subject to overall approval of funding for a 
commission to join our Parent and infant mental health offer for adults with provision 
in Manchester Foundation Trust CAMHS child psychology service to improve mental 
health provision for 0-5 year olds. Business Case has been to CCC subject to 
approval of overall spending.

Children's Eating 
Disorder service

This is a contribution to the GM commissioned Eating disorders service Business 
Case to be developed by December 2020.

Page 88



  

21

COSTING

Table 12 – Proposed cost (High level) 

POTENTIAL SAVINGS AND COST AVOIDANCE

12.2 None identified – will be considered as part of the full business case.

Page 89



  

22

DETAILED OVERVIEW OF THE KEY THEMES PRIMARY CARE

13. Theme 7 – Primary Care

OVERVIEW

13.1 Primary Care investment includes proposed investments such as additional roles, 
aligning to the National GP contract. Additional capacity to support Primary Care 
through the pandemic and then a proposal 

13.2 The following three key priorities have been identified which will support COVID 19 
recovery align to the national GP contract and promote more effective pathways:

 Additional Roles in Primary Care
 Continuation of COVID services to support Primary care
 Review of services to support extended access, out of hour’s provision and 

reduction of patients attending the Emergency Department.

13.3 Consequently, the proposed investment detailed in this section will support Salford’s 
fidelity to the Long Term Plan and also develop the support structures we need to 
respond to and recover from COVID 19

Table 13 - Detail of proposed investments (High level)

Proposed 
investment

Summary Key Area 

COVID 
Services

COVID 19 services related to the provision of additional primary care 
capacity, primarily via Salford Primary care Together to support the systems 
resilience and ability to manage the pandemic. This includes services that 
support shielding patients, visiting of COVID positive patients to reduce the 
risk to practices, COVID Testing as well as a number of other key work 
streams that provided support during the first wave of the pandemic.

Primary Care has worked through the services and have developed a 
proposed prioritisation that will underpin the ask. 

COVID 
Response

Urgent Care 
redesign

Pre COVID, the locality was already working on streamlining Urgent Care 
and Out of Hours services so that they more effectively align, reduce 
duplication and ensure we maximise what is often a limited workforce. This 
proposal will reflect effectively collaboration and bundling of services to 
deliver these aims but also provide a focus on a further Proof of Concept 
regarding ED. This includes Pre – ED Streaming and Call before you 

National/Local 
priority

Page 90



  

23

attend.

The overall ambition will be to minimise unnecessary Hospital attendances, 
but also ensure that we have a suitable community based alternative for 
patients. 
 

MH 
Practitioners 
(MHPs)

As part of the NHS Long Term Plan, localities are being asked to realign 
community mental health services with primary care networks (PCNs), 
creating ‘new and integrated models of primary and community mental 
health care’ by 2023/24.  To support these integrated models, Mental 
Health Practitioner (MHP) roles are included in the GP Contract Additional 
Roles Reimbursement Scheme from April 2021.

In Salford the remodelling of primary and community mental health care is 
being undertaken within the Living Well work.  There is therefore an 
opportunity for PCNs to have additional identifiable MHP input with further 
support via the Living Well MDT which would result in greater resilience and 
a more multi-disciplinary offer and ensure Salford has a cohesive and 
integrated front door to mental health in the future.

COVID 
Response

COSTING

Table 14 – Proposed cost (High level) 

POTENTIAL SAVINGS AND COST AVOIDANCE

13.5 Expected savings are outlined below:

Page 91



  

24

 Duplication – The Urgent Care work stream should reduce duplication and inefficiency 
within current services. Additionally, if the proof of concept works as expected, Salford 
Royal FT should see a significant reduction in ED attendances and cons3equently this 
should reduce their costs that they can contribute to the model.

 Long Term health – Early intervention within Mental Health is key in preventing longer 
term more acute episodes of care. The locality has recognised the benefits to patients 
and an evaluation of the impact will be included as part of the living well project.

END OF REPORT

Page 92



 

1

Adult Commissioning Committee

AGENDA ITEM NO 9

Item for Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)  

DATE OF MEETING 12 JUNE 2019

Report of: Karen Proctor/Charlotte Ramsden

Date of Paper: November 11th 2020

Subject: Adult Commissioning Report

In case of query 
Please contact:

Judd Skelton 0161 212 5632
Harry Golby 0161 212 6161

Purpose of Paper:

This paper provides an overview of a number of key or emerging areas of 
commissioning and provision relating to adult health and care to ensure Adult 
Commissioning Committee are kept abreast of developments and progress.

Page 93

Agenda Item 9



 

2

Further explanatory information required

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF 
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE 
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP?

This paper provides an overview of a 
number of key or emerging areas of 
commissioning and provision relating to 
adult health and care to ensure Adult 
Commissioning Committee are kept abreast 
of developments and progress.

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A 
RESULT OF THIS PAPER?  HOW 
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?
 

N/A

WHAT EQUALITY-RELATED 
RISKS MAY ARISE AS A RESULT 
OF THIS PAPER?  HOW WILL 
THESE BE MITIGATED?

N/A

DOES THIS PAPER HELP 
ADDRESS ANY EXISTING HIGH 
OR EXTREME RISKS FACING 
THE ORGANISATION?  IF SO 
WHAT ARE THEY AND HOW 
DOES THIS PAPER REDUCE 
THEM?

N/A

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY 
POSSIBLE CONFLICTS OF 
INTEREST ASSOCIATED WITH 
THIS PAPER.

N/A

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY 
CURRENT SERVICES OR ROLES 
THAT MAY BE AFFECTED BY 
ISSUES WITHIN THIS PAPER:

N/A

Footnote:

Members of – Adults’ Commissioning Committee will read all papers thoroughly.  
Once papers are distributed no amendments are possible.

Page 94



 

3Page 95



  

4

Document Development

Process Yes No Not
Applicable

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, 

actual report)
Outcome

Public Engagement
(Please detail the method  ie survey, 
event, consultation)

X

Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method  ie survey, 
event, consultation)

X

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality 
Analysis (EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks 
and how these will be managed) 

X

Legal Advice Sought X
Presented to any other groups or 
committees, including Partnership Groups
(Please specify in comments)

X

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work 
and ensure there is clarity in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether 
amendments were requested about a particular part of the work.

P
age 96



5

Adult Commissioning Report

1. Executive Summary

This report provides an overview of a number of key or emerging areas of 
commissioning and provision relating to adult health and care to ensure Adult 
Commissioning Committee are kept abreast of developments.

Items in this month’s report include:

 Social Prescribing 
 Mental Health support for students 
 Housing and Hospital Discharge
 Community Health Services

2.1  Social Prescribing

Social prescribing is when health professionals refer patients to non-clinical 
support in the community, in order to improve their health and wellbeing. The 
NHS Long Term Plan includes social prescribing as part of the recommended 
approach to personalised care. The plan commits funding to embed social 
prescribing into health and care systems throughout England and states that 
over 1,000 trained social prescribing link workers will be in place by the end of 
2020/21.

When Primary Care Networks (PCNs) and the new GP contract arrangements 
came in place in July 2019, there was inclusion of a roles re-imbursement 
scheme for Social Prescribing Link Workers. The monies able to be 
reimbursed to PCNs, is from the national allocations provided to CCGs. 

Salford has a Social Prescribing Service called ‘Wellbeing Matters’ which began in 
2018, funded through Greater Manchester transformation monies, proposed on 
behalf of the system by Public Health. This service includes both social prescribing, 
through Link Workers (Community Connectors), alongside capacity building the 
voluntary and community ecosystem for social prescribing via Volunteering 
Development Workers. Swinton PCN also fund a Health Improvement Worker for 
their practices to support social prescribing.  

A decision was made by PCNs and the CCG in January 2020 to maintain and co-
fund the Social Prescribing arrangements through Wellbeing Matters during 2020/21, 
following the end of the transformation project in June 2020. The PCNs agreed to 

Page 97



6

fund the Community Connectors while the CCG would contribute the remaining 
funding for the volunteer development elements and some management elements of 
the Wellbeing Matters programme. This arrangement was agreed to be extended for 
a further interim year (2021/22), by the five PCNs and CCG, in October 2020. 

This is an interim commissioning arrangement for 2021/22, while a Social 
Prescribing Strategy for Salford is developed. The Strategy will be developed 
through a process of co-production with citizens and stakeholders and will consider 
local and national evidence. This will encompass the finding of the independent 
evaluation of Wellbeing Matters, by Salford University, for which the final evaluation 
report was shared in October 2020 in draft format. The findings are reported to be 
positive with good examples of outcomes.  A Social Prescribing Strategy Group has 
been convened to initially scope the strategy.  Greater Manchester Health and Social 
Care Partnership are also currently conducting a GM review of social prescribing. 

Adults Commissioning Committee will be kept updated on progress with the 
development of Wellbeing Matters and also the Social Prescribing Strategy 
at future meetings. Emerging recommendations regarding social prescribing 
models and any future impact on commissioning intentions will continue to 
be highlighted to the ACC.  

2.2  Mental Health support for students

Work is currently underway with Salford University to identify the support currently in 
place and the opportunities to offer further support to Salford students in the context 
of Covid and mental wellbeing. 

For some students, isolation is becoming an increasing challenge, either due to 
COVID restrictions or the need to self-isolate.  The University already has a 
wellbeing service and access to a GM university mental health service, however it 
was identified that there are some students who may need a little more support 
around meaningful activity in their household, particularly if they are needing to 
isolate. 

Work is underway to promote the Beyond service (a collaborative of Mind in Salford, 
arts based mental health charity Start and Six Degrees Social Enterprise) to 
students, in addition to providing wellbeing activity packs with ideas for new activities 
to undertake at home. Support will also be linked to the Salford City Council Health 
bus which is on site at the campus each week. 

In addition, the Reach Out to End Suicide programme, funded by Salford CCG and 
delivered by Start, will focus on students as one of the priority groups in the 
campaign for this year, using outreach approaches to engage with students and 
share mental wellbeing messages. 

Page 98



7

Commissioners have also shared the 20 minute Learn to Save a Life training with 
contacts for student support (e.g. student housing providers) and with students 
themselves to encourage people to be more comfortable in having conversations 
about suicide with tenants, friends and flatmates. 

Providing support to the university to undertake welfare checks on students is also 
being explored with positive conversations with CVS volunteers. 

2.3 Housing and Hospital Discharge

The Housing and Hospital Discharge programme commenced in April 2018.  
Funding (£46,723) was agreed for 1.2 WTE Housing Options Advisors until 31 .3.22.
 
The post was intended to address and resolve housing related issues that impact on 
hospital discharge and transitions of care at SRFT and Meadowbrook by providing a 
single point of contact and specialist knowledge for any housing advice, 
homelessness case work and resettlement support. Interventions range from 
homelessness prevention activity to full homeless assessments with access to 
emergency accommodation and rehousing options. 

The post is managed by the Housing Options Team (Salford City Council) and 
stationed within the Integrated Discharge Team (IDT) at the Salford Royal hospital 
site.  The core aims of the project are to:  

 Reduce the amount of time people are delayed from being discharged as a 
result of housing / homelessness issues.  

 Ensure that people are not discharged without safe, stable and suitable 
accommodation to return to. This may be suitable temporary accommodation, 
in the first instance, with a process that leads to more stable accommodation. 

 Prevent readmissions that occur as a result of discharges to inappropriate 
housing. 

 Improve patient experience through addressing housing related issues to 
improve their discharge. 

From October 2019 to August 2020 there have been 257 referrals to the Housing 
Options Advisor and average of 23 referrals per month. In the previous 18 months 
there were 279 referrals averaging 15 cases per month. There has been an increase 
in referrals and this is a result of increased homelessness in Salford and also 
continual promotion and awareness of the post within hospital teams. 
 
The housing officer sits in the same office as IDT staff and awareness of the service 
is high.  The majority of referrals come from the IDT and Meadowbrook and most 
referrals are now made on the same day that the person is admitted. 

The housing problems for which people are referred are varied, as outlined below

Page 99

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fbit.ly%2Flearntosavealife&data=01%7C01%7C%7C3b14477b685e45641b5608d87432f4a3%7C68c00060d80e40a5b83f3b8a5bc570b5%7C0&sdata=%2Bda5JC3ut0nJ%2B8DKX7fwhLxX8pBSeH3P5cIhTv0zALI%3D&reserved=0


8

 Homeless and nowhere to stay upon discharge (50%)
 Property unsuitable to return to due to unsanitary conditions (26%) 
 Property medically unsuitable to return to (14%)
 Relationship breakdown with partner or family member  (4%) 
 Domestic violence / abuse (1%) 
 Financial issues / benefit issues / affordability (1%) 
 Violence from outside the home / harassment (1%) 
 Neighbour dispute / landlord dispute (1%)
 Lost keys (1%)

Examples of the wide range of actions taken by the Housing Adviser include: 

 Homeless assessment and casework 
 Arranging access to temporary accommodation for day of discharge 
 Home visits 
 Arranging deep cleans and clear-outs / rubbish removal 
 Referrals to adaptations team and exploring funding options 
 Mediation / negotiation with family members / friends 
 Referrals to Domestic Abuse support services 
 Income and expenditure / maximizing income and applying for benefits, 

reducing outgoings, referrals to Welfare Rights and Debt Advice officer  
 Liaising with police / safeguarding teams 
 Mediating with landlord to resolve issues / repayment plans for arrears etc.  
 Arrange lock changes / facilitate access for contractors / site visits

Prior to the Advisor starting in this post all referrals from Salford Royal came from the 
IDT at the point where the patient was medically optimised for discharge. The 
referral was made to an inbox and an assessment for a Housing Options Advisor 
could take up to three days (due to existing caseload / other appointments booked 
in). As the Housing Advisor is only working with hospital discharge cases her 
caseload is reasonable (around 25) which enables a quick same day assessment for 
patients. No further delays are incurred once the referral has been made.  In the past 
11 months this would mean that without the Advisor in post there could have 
potentially been up to 771 bed days lost.  

The service continues to have a positive impact on the experience of both patients 
and staff. 

2.4 Community Health Services

Several community health services projects have progressed in recent months.  
Regular meetings of the Integrated Community Based Care Commissioning Group 
(ICBCCG) were suspended due to the Covid-19 pandemic. However ad-hoc 

Page 100



9

meetings have been arranged and the group has been working via email to progress 
individual projects.  In September recommendations have been made, and 
progressed through governance to the Service & Finance Group:

 To commission Oviva to deliver additional remote diabetes support sessions 
until 31st March 2020.  The contract with Oviva initially began in Salford as an 
innovation project, evaluation showed that its offer of online lifestyle support 
and training complemented more traditional support offers provided by local 
NHS services.  The decision ensures continued provision for the rest of this 
financial year whilst sustainable plans can be developed at locality and 
Greater Manchester levels.

 To review community ophthalmology services.  Salford has a contract with 
Operose health to provide community ophthalmology services and a range of 
smaller primary eye health care contracts with opticians.  The specifications 
for these contracts have not been reviewed for some time.  The agreement is 
to ensure the different contracts had the same end date and to review the 
current arrangements in order to be able to commission against a new 
contract in 2021.

In 2019/20 a review of the community dietetics service was completed.  Salford 
Royal NHS Foundation Trust have prepared a report following that review and an 
adhoc meeting of the ICBCCG has been arranged for 17 November to discuss that 
report.
 
3. Recommendations

Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to note and discuss this overview of a 
number of key or emerging areas of commissioning and provision relating to adult 
health and care. 

Judd Skelton (Assistant Director Integrated Commissioning) & Harry Golby 
(Assistant Director of Commissioning)  

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Draft Minutes of the Meeting Held on 14th October 2020
	4 Public Health Annual Report 2019/20 and Locality Plan 2020-25
	5 Finance Report
	6 UEC By Appointment
	7 Adult Social Care Update
	8 Annual Business Plan Update and Financial Implications
	9 Adult Commissioning Report

